INVESTIGATION OF INDIGENOUS CHICKEN PRODUCTION AND AFLATOXIN CONTAMINATION OF EGGS AND MEAT IN WESTERN KENYA

JONATHAN KIPNG'ETICH TARUS

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENT FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN ANIMAL PRODUCTION IN THE SCHOOL OF AGRICULTURE AND BIOTECHNOLOGY UNIVERSITY OF ELDORET, KENYA

AUGUST, 2019

DECLARATION

DECLARATION BY THE STUDENT

This thesis is my original work and has not been submitted for any academic award in any institution and should not be reproduced in part or full, or in any format without prior written permission from the author and/ or University of Eldoret

MR. TARUS JONATHAN KIPNG'ETICH

AGR/PGA/002/14

DECLARATION BY THE SUPERVISORS

This thesis has been submitted with our approval as University supervisors.

Date: _____

Date

DR. RACHUONYO, HAROLD ANINDO.

Department of Animal Science, University of Eldoret, Kenya

Date: _____

DR. OMEGA, JOSEPH AMESA.

Department of Animal Science, University of Eldoret, Kenya

Date: _____

PROF. OCHUODHO, JULIUS ONYANGO.

Department of Seed, Crop and Horticultural Sciences,

University of Eldoret, Kenya

DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to God who has guided me through this demanding process of study. Also to my family who persevered with me even at times they needed me most as I engaged in the research.

ABSTRACT

Poultry plays an important economical role of developing nations and reports show that demand of poultry meat is on increase. Native chicken are valued in Kenya because they provide food and income, for domestic use, to rural households especially in Western Kenya. However, their production is low compared to exotic chicken; this could be due to ingestion of aflatoxins known to affect chicken productivity. The study investigated feed types, feeding regime and presence of aflatoxins in chicken products in Siava, Busia and Kakamega Counties. A multi stage sampling was used and purposive selection entirely done based on indigenous chicken production among women and youth groups. In each of the 3 Counties, 3 sub Counties were selected; in each sub County, two Wards were identified and two locations were picked in each of them. Four farmer groups (two youth and two women groups) were identified in each of the picked locations and five group members each completed a questionnaire. A total of 180 farmers were interviewed, 260 feed samples, 60 egg samples and 240 tissue samples were obtained from sixty chicken slaughtered and from these chicken (30 young; 12-16 weeks old and 30 adults; >36 weeks old), Liver (n=60), kidney (n=60), breast (n=60) and thigh muscle (n=60). Nutrient composition of common chicken feeds was analyzed for percent crude protein (CP), dry matter (DM), and ash (ASH) using proximate method. Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent assay (ELISA) was used to detect presence of aflatoxins in products of indigenous chicken. Survey data was analyzed using SPSS Software version 25 while GENSTAT 14th Edition was used to analyze tissues, eggs and feed data. Farmer's age and education level determined type of production system practiced. Free range system was still popular than semi free range and intensive systems. Common feedstuffs were; maize, sorghum, cassava, groundnuts and commercial feeds. Cassava had the lowest crude protein at 2.4%, groundnuts had the highest crude protein at 20% as compared to other feedstuffs while Sorghum had higher CP at 10% than maize at 8%. Tissues had higher mean aflatoxin level (liver 4.19ppb, Breast muscle 3.57ppb, thigh muscle 2.66ppb and kidney 2.02ppb) but eggs had traces (0.081ppb). Chicken tissues had total aflatoxins, eggs had traces. This study informs on production systems, nutrient composition of indigenous chicken feeds and levels of aflatoxin in chicken products. Therefore the study recommends that strategies on minimizing future contamination and improving on production be put in place.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

DECLARATION	ii
DEDICATION	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF PLATES	xi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	xiii
CHAPTER ONE	1
INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background Information	1
1 .1.1 Indigenous chicken production	1
1.1.2: Feed quality	3
1.1.3: Aflatoxins	4
1.2. Statement of the Problem	6
1.4 Objectives	
1.4.1 Broad Objective	
1.4.2 Specific Objectives	
1.5 Hypotheses	
CHAPTER TWO	
LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Indigenous chicken	
2.1.1 Present status	
2.1.2 Production systems	
2.1.2.1 Free range system	
2.1.2.2 Semi free range (semi intensive)	11

2.1.2.3 Intensive Production System	12
2.1.3 Feeding and feeds	12
2.1.4 Comparative advantage of indigenous chicken	13
2.1.5.1 Practices to prevent aflatoxin in chicken production	14
2.1.6 Marketing of chicken and products	15
2.1.7 Challenges and constraints to indigenous chicken production	15
2.2 Mycotoxins	15
2.2.1 Prevalence of mycotoxins	15
2.2.2 Types of mycotoxins important in chicken production	17
2.2.3 Aflatoxin biotransformation/metabolism in the liver	22
2.2.4 General effects of mycotoxins on chicken, man and other animals	23
2.2.5 Specific effects of Aflatoxins	
2.3 Feeds	
2.3.1 Effects of contaminated feed on chicken productivity	31
2.3.2 Effects of aflatoxins on human beings	
2.4 Predisposing factors to mycotoxicosis	
2.5 Food safety levels	
2.5.1 Known organizations / commissions concerned with mycotoxins	35
2.5.2 Methods of preventing and controlling mycotoxins	
CHAPTER THREE	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1 Study area	
3.2 Sampling of farms and sample collection	
3.3: Sample analysis	
3.3.1: Feed sample analysis	
3.3.2: Egg and tissue sample analysis for total aflatoxins	40
CHAPTER FOUR	43
RESULTS	43
4.1 Indigenous chicken and production system	43
4.3 Aflatoxin Residues in chicken eggs and tissues	

CHAPTER FIVE	61
DISCUSSION	61
5.1: Indigenous chicken production	61
5.2: Nutritive value of chicken feeds	63
5.3: Aflatoxin residues in chicken products	64
CHAPTER SIX	68
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	
6.1 Conclusions	
6.2 Recommendations	
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	

Appendix I	Data information from the study area	87
Appendix II	Chicken thigh muscle sample from for aflatoxin test	88
Appendix III	Egg samples in the lab ready for analysis by ELISA method	89
Appendix IV	Filtrate, substrate and antibody filled Microwells for AFT analysis	90
Appendix V	Information collection during baseline survey from individual farmers in	
	Busia, Kakamega and Siaya Counties	91
Appendix VI	Sample of questionnaire used to collect information during	
	baseline survey	92
AppendixVII	Similarity Report	99

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Effects of aflatoxin on human health	32
Table 2 U.S. Food and Drug Administration action levels for total aflatoxins in food	
and feed	34
Table 3 Common types of chickens in Siaya, Busia and Kakamega Counties	43
Table 4 Indigenous Chicken Production Systems in Siaya, Busia and Kakamega	
Counties of Western Kenya	44
Table 5 Indigenous Chicken Production systems in different Sub Counties of Siaya,	
Busia and Kakamega Counties	44
Table 6 Duration of Farmers' involvement in indigenous chicken production systems	
in Siaya, Busia and Kakamega Counties	45
Table 7 Reasons of keeping indigenous chicken in Busia, Kakamega and Siaya	
Counties	46
Table 8 Influence of age on production system in indigenous chicken production	47
Table 9 Mean nutrient content of maize and sorghum as feed for indigenous chicken	49
Table 10 Mean nutrient content of cassava as feed for indigenous chickens	50

Page

Table 11 Mean nutrient content of groundnuts as indigenous chickens feed	50
Table 12 Mean nutrient content of home-made rations (HMR) and commercial feeds a	ıs
feed for indigenous chickens	51
Table 13 Mean nutrient content of specific commercial feeds of indigenous chickens	51
Table 14 Mean aflatoxin levels (Ppb) in tissues of chicken under different	
production systems	53
Table 15 Mean aflatoxin levels (ppb) in chicken tissues from Western Kenya	54
Table 16 Mean aflatoxin levels (Ppb) in chicken Tissues in Busia County	54
Table 17 Mean aflatoxin levels (Ppb) in chicken Tissues among groups (Women	
and youth) and age of chicken (in Busia County	55
Table18 Mean aflatoxin levels (Ppb) in chicken Tissues in Kakamega County	56
Table 19 Mean aflatoxin levels (Ppb) in chicken Tissues among women and	
youth groups including age of chicken in Kakamega County	57
Table 20 Mean aflatoxin levels (Ppb) in chicken Tissues in Siaya County	58
Table 21 Mean aflatoxin levels (Ppb) in chicken Tissues among women and youth	
group including age of chicken in Siaya County	59

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Chemical structure of AFB1, AFB2, AFGI, AFG2	19
Chemical structure of zearalenone	20
Chemical structure of Ochratoxin	20
Chemical structure of Fumonisin	21
Metabolism of aflatoxin in liver	23
Map of area of study	37
Education level versus production system	48
Mean aflatoxin levels (Ppb) in indigenous chicken eggs	52
Mean aflatoxin level (ppb) of chicken tissues from women and youth	
groups across the three counties	59
	Chemical structure of AFB1, AFB2, AFGI, AFG2 Chemical structure of zearalenone Chemical structure of Ochratoxin Chemical structure of Fumonisin Metabolism of aflatoxin in liver Map of area of study Education level versus production system Mean aflatoxin levels (Ppb) in indigenous chicken eggs Mean aflatoxin level (ppb) of chicken tissues from women and youth groups across the three counties

LIST OF PLATES

Plate 1 Common indigenous chicken feeds	13
Plate 2 Aspergillus flavus responsible in causing Aflatoxins (B1, B2, G1 and G2)	18
Plate 3 Tumorous liver of a rat fed with aflatoxin B1	27
Plate 4 Chicken tissue samples carefully collected and preserved	39
Plate 5 Egg samples, a beaker, Microwell-holder in analyzer and results in a sheet.	41
Plate 6 Indigenous chicken kept under different systems of production	46
Plate 7 Chicken fed on the ground are exposed to aflatoxin (mycotoxin) contamination	n 54
Plate 8 Chicken fed together regardless of their ages.	59

PAGE

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

AFB ₁	Aflatoxin B ₁
AFB ₂	Aflatoxin B ₂
AFG ₁	Aflatoxin G ₁
AFG ₂	Aflatoxin G ₂
AFT	Total Aflatoxin
DON	Deoxynivalenol
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FDA	Food and Drugs Administration
FUM	Fumonisin
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
IBD	Infectious Bronchitis Disease
KALRO	Kenya Agriculture and Livestock Research Organiztion
KEBS	Kenya Bureau of Standards
ND	Newcastle Disease
NGO	Non-governmental Organiztion
ΟΤΑ	Ochratoxin A
RUFORUM	Regional Universities Forum
ZEN	Zearalenone

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I take this opportunity to thank especially RUFORUM, for provision of finances for this research. Much gratitude also goes to my supervisors; Dr. Harold Anindo Rachuonyo, Dr. Joseph Amesa Omega and Prof. Julius Onyango Ochuodho of University of Eldoret. I cannot forget Dr Joseph Wanjala Munyasi of KALRO Kakamega for professional guidance and support during the whole process of the study. Also, I thank the School of Agriculture and Biotechnology of University of Eldoret, for providing me with storage and preservation equipment. I appreciate the frontline extension officers, leaders of farmer groups and group members who were engaged from the Counties of Siaya, Busia and Kakamega, for their cooperation and support during data collection. I also thank my family, friends and colleagues for their support especially during the period of the project and time of thesis writing.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background Information

1.1.1 Indigenous chicken production

Poultry industry, chicken in particular, plays an important role in the economy of developing nations and reports show that the demand for poultry meat is on increase (Dolberg, 2008). Besides this, chicken play socio-economic role globally, especially, in low income countries (Alders, 2004). The impact of village chicken is still felt particularly in the national economies of developing countries through improved nutrition, food security and livelihoods of smallholder households especially in Africa (Gondwe 2004; Abdelqader *et al.*, 2007; Abubakar *et al.* 2007). This makes chicken products the most valuable and affordable proteins of animal origin. This is supported by the fact that indigenous chickens are wide spread in most rural Africa than any other livestock species and still very common in most African households despite the introduction of exotic and crossbred types of chicken.

Kenya's poultry population is estimated to be 31 million birds, of which 81% are indigenous chicken (*Gallus domesticus*). This sub-sector contributes 30% of agricultural gross domestic product (GDP), 55% of livestock sector and 3% of national GDP (GoK, 2016). These indigenous chicken are popular across all Counties of Western Kenya particularly Busia, Kakamega and Siaya Counties. These chicken provide food and employment for disadvantaged groups in most of the rural households (Guèye 2000; Kogunza *et al.*, 2008; Munyasi *et al.*, 2009). Predators, feed shortages, theft, poor marketing channels and housing are major challenges facing the industry. Chicken meat

and eggs forms an important source of essential animal proteins, a vast array of vitamins and minerals (Darwish *et al.*, 2016). Chicken output may not be high in most families, but their great advantage is the frequent egg production, which provides nutrients of high nutritional value consumed by the vulnerable members of the household (FAO, 2014).

Poultry production is considered as one way of mitigating food insecurity if fully exploited and commercialized like the exotic commercial chicken. Although they are continuously exposed to diseases, inadequate health care and feeding, indigenous chicken are better adapted to scavenging. They are also known to survive weather conditions like cold and heat, wet and drought and management practices such as; sheltered and unsheltered outside or roosting in trees or in cages (Nhleko *et al.*, 2003). These chicken survive largely on weed seeds, insects, feeds and kitchen wastes that would otherwise be a waste. Low productivity and lower growth rates of indigenous chicken can be minimized through protein supplementation (King'ori *et al.*, 2007). To increase food security and income in the poor rural households, indigenous chicken production can be transformed to commercial production from the common subsistence production (Kyarisiima *et al* 2004). However, poultry faces expanded challenges like bacterial, viral, metabolic disorders and mycotoxicosis, in this century that must be met if the problems of food security, chicken production growth and employment are to be solved (McIntire, 2014; El-Yazeed, 2015).

Among the farmers, free range system seems to be preferred where chicken are let free in the morning to scavenge the rest of the day. Most farmers fed their chicken in the morning, before releasing them to scavenge, the rest of the day or till evening. This system requires low inputs in terms of feeds although it can be expensive when preventing them from diseases, predators and damaging the neighbours' property. The second in popularity is the semi free range system (semi intensive) where chicken are kept in for some hours (commonly 6 hours) given feed supplements, then released to scavenge. Some farmers practiced this system only when feeds are available, after which they turn to free range system which seem easier to manage in terms of feeding.

Intensive system is not common with indigenous chicken farmers because it is minimally practiced as compared to free range and semi free range systems. This could be because it requires more inputs of feed and equipment and yet indigenous chicken growth rate is low. Unless indigenous chicken are improved genetically, intensive system can be uneconomical.

Chicken are exposed to major challenges such as adverse weather conditions, diseases, predators, feed shortages and theft. Lack of the required housing, management skills, training equipment and chance to effectively optimize their household indigenous chicken production are still major challenges to most communities (Mlozi *et al.*, 2003; Mangesha *et al.*, 2011). Nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) and government agricultural extension agents have made efforts to minimize these challenges, but adoption rates are low in Western Kenya (Ochieng *et al.*, 2013). Therefore there is an urgent need to modernize indigenous chicken production through farmer education, use of improved feeds (commercial feeds), housing and breeding. This will in turn improve indigenous chicken production and livelihoods of rural households especially women and youth.

1.1.2: Feed quality

Indigenous chicken are commonly fed on a variety of locally available ingredients such as maize, sorghum, millet, cassava, groundnuts, sweet potato tubers (boiled), bananas,

commercial feeds and kitchen leftovers. Designing ways to supply the required nutrients for scavenging chicken is paramount to attaining optimum production (Okitoi *et al.*, 2009). The free rangers also feed on insects, vegetation and wild seeds. Feeds are known to improve chicken growth and productivity (Okitoi *et al.*, 2006). Therefore it is necessary to quantify the nutrient content of available feedstuff so as to determine the feeding levels (diet) and disseminate the information to stakeholders at all levels for improved indigenous chicken production.

1.1.3: Aflatoxins

Aflatoxin is one of the most known and studied of all mycotoxins. Mycotoxin is obtained from a Greek word *mykes* for mould and latin word *toxicum* for poison thus mycotoxins are mould poisons (Rahmani *et al.*, 2009 ; Bullerman *et al.*, 2011). Mycotoxins are toxic fungal metabolites that can contaminate a wide array of food and feed. In 1962, over 100,000 turkeys died in London due to consumption of peanuts which were contaminated with *Aspergillus flavus* a major producer of aflatoxins. Today there are over 500 known mycotoxins (Vetchick, 2010; Durali, 2014) although these can be in the range of 300,000 (Whitlow & Hagler, 2006), but the most common are aflatoxins. Mycotoxin problems are found in all regions of the world and mycotoxins are estimated to affect as much as 25 percent of the world's crops each year (Lawlor and Lynch, 2005). In Kenya aflatoxins are reported to be a major challenge to feed industry as leading contaminants (Kang'ethe & Lang'a., 2009).

Most common and significant mycotoxins in poultry industry, besides aflatoxins (**AF**) are: fumonisins (**FUM**), zearalenone (**ZEN**), ochratoxin A (**OTA**) and trichothecenes such as

deoxynivalenol (**DON**), and T-2 toxin and are also known to significantly impact the health and productivity of most poultry species (Murugesan *et al.*, 2014)

Feed is the major contributor of aflatoxins into the poultry flocks and they exert their effects in poultry by; altering the nutrient content of the feed, its absorption and metabolism, affecting endocrine, exocrine and immune systems. The presence of aflatoxins in meat, edible tissues and eggs is of great concern since the residues can affect human health (Gareis &Wolff, 2000; Inheshiutor *et al.*, 2011). Miller (2008) reported that animal feeds containing ingredients such as peanut, oil seed and coconut cakes or corn germ often contain aflatoxin. Most of chicken feeds contain one or more of these ingredients particularly cotton seed cake, sunflower cake, soybean cake and maize germ. Indigenous chicken feeding involves the use of various types of locally available feedstuffs which are used by farmers for example maize grain, sorghum, millet, cassava tubers, boiled sweet potato tubers, kitchen remains and commercial feeds. These feeds can be contaminated in the field (pre-harvest, harvest and drying), during storage and processing; therefore, this makes it necessary to analyze and evaluate the presence of aflatoxins in chicken products due to carry-over to products.

Aflatoxin-contaminated feeds if consumed by poultry, will affect feed intake, feed conversion efficiency hence influencing the rate of weight gain and reproduction negatively (Nemati *et al.*, 2014). Consumption of large amounts of aflatoxins causes acute aflatoxicosis which almost always causes death while if consumed in small quantities for a long time causes chronic form which is associated with liver cancer. The residues of aflatoxins in feeds and food has led to key organizations (FAO, WHO, FDA and KEBS) to set up safety levels(10 and 20 ppb) of aflatoxin in products intended for both livestock

and human consumption so as to control and minimize effects of aflatoxins on consumers. Strict adherence to safe production and processing measures of feeds can lead to obtaining safe chicken products.

1.2: Statement of the Problem

Formulation of policies or strategies that will assist in prevention of future contaminations, reduction of use of poor quality feeds in chicken production and minimizing health hazards to humans and animals are needed. Indigenous chicken production in Kenya, particularly Western Kenya, faces the challenges of improving productivity and quality of products. Indigenous chicken farmers use a wide range of feeds for their poultry; including cereals (maize, sorghum, millet, groundnuts and beans), cassava, sweet potato tubers, homemade rations and commercial feeds (kienyeji mash, grower mash, layer mash and chick mash). The nutrient composition of these feeds is varied and should be determined for ration formulation of indigenous chicken. However, most rural communities lack the required training, skills, and opportunity to effectively improve their chicken production which has led to most rural chicken producers feeding their chicken only on one ingredient like maize, while expecting improved performance. On the other hand, aflatoxins are the major contaminants of feedstuffs and are reported to be a health risk to both man and animals if consumed. Indigenous chicken in this region, are reared under different production systems, like free range and semi free range, expose them to aflatoxin contamination. Humid and warm conditions, in Western Kenya, favour the growth of most mycotoxigenic fungi which can contaminate feedstuffs which if consumed by poultry will affect weight gain, feed intake, feed conversion efficiency and reproduction negatively. Thus, improper handling and storage conditions of feeds could promote the problem of aflatoxicosis. Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) reported that 25% of human foods and animal feeds are contaminated with mycotoxigenic fungi. In chicken, such feed compromise immune system and toxins are passed on to eggs and meat, subsequently affecting humans who consume them as food. Aflatoxicosis disease is one of the hindrances to chicken production in Kenya and the rest of the world. This has made study of aflatoxin a subject of international importance and thus, attracting worldwide attention due to significant economic losses, impact on human and animal health and trade. Scavenging indigenous chickens are exposed to various potential sources of aflatoxin contamination and there is therefore need to investigate its occurrence in chicken products which pose risks to human health.

1.3 Justification

Most of the developing nations, Kenya included, advocate for food security and poverty eradication strategies in their development agenda in order to minimize malnutrition and starvation. Poultry production is one of the considerations in mitigating the problem. Most communities in Kenya, Western Kenya in particular, view indigenous chicken production as a remedy to food insecurity and source of income (Munyasi *et al.*, 2009). This could be because indigenous chicken are hardy, can thrive with minimal inputs and still produce and give products (Mailu *et al.*, 2012). Aflatoxin occurrence is worldwide and levels are unpredictable due to geographical variations. Poor performance of indigenous chicken could be due to consumption of aflatoxin contaminated feeds during harvest, drying and storage. Little documented information on the presence of aflatoxins in chicken products is available, particularly for Western Kenya. This raised a need to determine the presence of aflatoxins, carried over from contaminated sources, to chicken products which pose risks to human health and economic losses in trade. This study analyzed production systems of indigenous chicken, presence of aflatoxins in chicken tissues and eggs and nutrient composition of feeds.

1.4 Objectives

1.4.1 Broad Objective

To investigate indigenous chicken production systems, feed composition and determine aflatoxin contamination of indigenous chicken products for healthy product production in Western Kenya.

1.4.2 Specific Objectives

 To identify types production systems, feeds and feeding through baseline survey in Western Kenya.

2. To determine nutrient composition of commonly used indigenous chicken feeds.

3. To determine levels of aflatoxins in indigenous chicken meat and eggs.

1.5 Hypotheses

H_o: There are different indigenous chicken types, production systems, feeds and feeding regimes

H_a: There are similar indigenous chicken types, production systems, feeds and feeding regimes

Ho: Nutritive value of feeds commonly fed to chicken is not varied

H_a: Nutritive value of feeds commonly fed to chicken is varied.

Ho: Aflatoxins consumed by chicken are not passed to eggs and meat of chicken.

Ha: Aflatoxins consumed by chicken are passed to eggs and meat of chicken

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Indigenous chicken

Indigenous chicken (Gallus domesticus) are directly related to the Red Jungle Fowl (Gallus gallus gallus) as revealed by DNA study that was carried out (Dorji et al., 2012). Chicken are the most wide spread poultry species in the world and account for 90 percent of the poultry population. They provide nutrition for the family, some cash flow and meat for festivals or other need in some religious ceremonies, like bride price, cleansing, cursing and also for recreational activities, hence making a significant role of food security and poverty mitigation in many parts globally especially in developing countries (FAO., 2004; Dolberg, 2008; Nakkazi et al., 2014;). Indigenous chicken are now valued as part of income generation, and acts as an empowerment to rural women and youth (Ambre et al., 2016; Munyasi et al., 2009; Dana et al., 2010; Okeno et al., 2012). This is why chickens are probably the most important nutritionally among domestic animal species for the world's poor (Apuno et al., 2011). These indigenous chicken are still common in most African villages despite the introduction of exotic and crossbred types, because of high input requirement of the exotic or crossbred breeds. Keepers fear to invest in productive chicken and this could be the reason leading to popularity of poor scavenging indigenous chicken.

2.1.1 Present status.

According to Omiti (2011), indigenous chicken accounts for 81% of poultry population in Kenya and support livelihoods of over 21 million people especially in rural areas, mainly women and youth. *Gallus domesticus* have undergone several improvements in terms of

breeding and production which has led to production of "improved indigenous" or "improved Kienyeji' chicken in Kenya (KARI, 2014).

2.1.2 Production systems

2.1.2.1 Free range system

Free range production system is the most frequently practiced by farmers followed by semi-free range in most parts of rural Africa (Sanka and Mbaga, 2014). Chicken are kept extensively for meat, eggs for household consumption, income and various socio-cultural activities (Njenga, 2005; Ochieng *et al.*, 2013). Free-range chicken utilize such feed resources as various seeds, grass and insects (Birech., 2002). Scavenger chickens are usually self-reliant, hardy and are known to withstand the various weather conditions, minimal management and inadequate nutrition (Birech, 2002; Nakkazi *et al.*, 2014). Supplementation with available feedstuffs is done once a day, morning or evening, depending on their availability (Nakkazi *et al.*, 2014). In these rural set ups, water is freely available to the chicken all the time, using basins, sauce pans, container stuck in the ground, plates, cut jericans, commercial water troughs and other small tins (Nakkazi *et al.*, 2014). Common housing models used in indigenous chicken production include; traditional raised houses, A-frame, brooding baskets, mud houses and iron sheet houses although majority of chickens roosts on trees (Tarwireyi and Fanadzo, 2013).

2.1.2.2 Semi free range (semi intensive)

In this system, chicken are fed and held in simple shelters to proper chicken houses for some hours, commonly 6 hrs and then they are let out to scavenge for the rest of the day. King'ori *et al* (2010) reported that chicken are left to scavenge around homestead feeding on kitchen wastes, grass, insects, and other available feed ingredients.

2.1.2.3 Intensive Production System

Chicken are confined the whole day and fed on locally available and some commercial feeds. Indigenous chicken are reared under different production systems but to a lesser extent under intensive systems (Sanka and Mbaga, 2014). Under intensive system, indigenous chicken show low growth rates and poor feed conversion ratio than hybrid chickens (Mupeta, *et al.*, 2000). This indicates that indigenous birds' response to improved feeding management systems is low because they are not accustomed to confinement as compared to exotic birds (Sanka and Mbaga., 2014) mainly due to their genetic potential (Apuno *et al.*, 2011) Through ingestion of aflatoxin contaminated feedstuffs, chicken are at a risk of being exposed to high concentrations that develop several health problems leading to large economical losses of meat and eggs in terms of quality and quantity (Bintvihok *et al.*, 2002; Hall and Wild, 2003; Farombi, 2006).

2.1.3 Feeding and feeds

Birds under free range system are rarely confined, but if confined they are supplemented with maize, cassava and groundnuts (Plate 1), kitchen leftovers, any other available feed resource and water especially during cropping seasons (Khobondo *et al., 2015*). According to FAO (2012), 25% of human foods and animal feeds are contaminated with mycotoxigenic fungi. Hence, increased mortality of chicks has been associated with diets contaminated with aflatoxins (Oguz & Kutoglu, 2000). It is generally agreed that dietary aflatoxin reduces rate of weight gain, feed intake, and worsens feed efficiency (Chen *et*

al., 2013). Therefore, this could be an indication why indigenous chicken show a low weight gain.



Plate 1: Common indigenous chicken feedstuffs: Cassava (A), Groundnuts (B) and Maize (C) collected during the study (Source: Author, 2016)

2.1.4 Comparative advantage of indigenous chicken

Indigenous chicken are relatively adapted to living on the grounds where they naturally find their diet. Indigenous chicken are known to feed on pastures and grain or cereals. Scavenging village chicken products frequently fetch a higher price in the market because they are considered to be free of aflatoxin and other residues (FAO, 2014). Indigenous chicken are generally rated superior to the exotic hybrids because: they are more resistant to common diseases like coccidiosis, they can tolerate a wide range of environmental conditions (adverse temperatures, rains among others), their mothering ability, and defending of their chicks against everyday predators is high, can scavenge better, their meat and eggs preferred due to their taste and this enhances their market value. These characteristics make them more suitable to the village settings (King'ori *et al.*, 2010; Bushra, 2012,; Nakkazi, *et al.*, 2014)

2.1.5 Diseases

Aflatoxins are known to affect immune system of poultry. Immune response can be impaired, in chickens, at levels that cannot affect growth rate (Chen et al., 2013). Experimental research done by Gabal and Azzam (1998) reported that feeding chicken with aflatoxin level of 200 ppb in feed and vaccinating them against most diseases lowered their immunity against successive experimental challenges. Besides inadequate feeding, housing and value chain organization, poultry health issues are some of the major constraints on family poultry production in Western Kenya. Although disease control is identified as a key factor in family chicken projects, disease control should be implemented alongside other appropriate management measures to ensure an optimum return on investments (Ahlers et al., 2009). Vaccines are available to prevent each of these diseases. Different vaccination models exist depending on the different ecological, economic and cultural environments (Alexander et al., 2004). According to Omiti et al (2005), aflatoxin contamination increased mortality to 35.6 percent as to compare with 3-21 percent in IBD and 0.03 percent mortality rate. Therefore, biosecurity practices must be tailored accordingly (FAO, 2008b).

2.1.5.1 Practices to prevent aflatoxin in chicken production

It is important to prevent diseases at all levels of production and the most important to consider are the biosecurity measures. According to FAO (2008b), biosecurity is implementation of measures that minimize the introduction and spread of pathogenic agents and this vary according to the production system involved. Health services for family poultry require attention from all stakeholders such as private sector, government ministries, local agencies, international organizations and donors to strengthen chicken

disease surveillance (FAO, 2008b). Prevention and control of contamination will make an important contribution to food security, poverty alleviation, early detection and control of zoonotic diseases including aflatoxicosis.

2.1.6 Marketing of chicken and products

Women and children are key players involved in chicken marketing. Their major markets are the nearest urban centers and farm gates. Both live chicken and egg marketing channels are more or less similar. Eggs are sold to food and retail shops, hotels and supermarkets in nearby towns (Fisseha *et al.*, 2010). Marketing of indigenous chicken and products is haphazard and involves price negotiation with buyers or as per market price (Nyanja, 2016).

2.1.7 Challenges and constraints to indigenous chicken production

Major limiting constraints of chicken production are: Diseases, predators, feed shortages; poor marketing system, management and lack of equipment (Hassen., 2007; Bogale., 2008; Fisseha., 2009; Addisu *et al.*, 2013;). Poor genetic potential, low productivity, low egg hatchability, housing, lack of credit facilities, conflict with neighbours and high cost of commercial feeds are also challenges faced by indigenous poultry producers (Kabuage, 2010; Mutua, 2011; Ochieng, *et al.*, 2013).

2.2 Mycotoxins

2.2.1 Prevalence of mycotoxins

All natural materials (grains, tubers, fruits, vegetation among others) and many man-made ones (like cakes, meals, germs, mashes) are subject to contamination by mycotoxins under favorable conditions like temperature and high moisture content. Under these conditions, these fungi proliferate and produce mycotoxins (Vetchick, 2010). Most studies have indicated that mycotoxins are often invisible, tasteless, chemically stable and resistant to temperature and processing methods. Poorly stored (with high moisture) feed are contaminated with aflatoxins, hence posing danger to poultry, other animal and human health (Sager, 2013). These feeds are a main source of aflatoxin contamination, of which, if fed to chicken can contaminate their products. Aflatoxin in layer feed can result in residues in eggs which make it very essential to control aflatoxins in feeds for this group of chicken (Oliveira et al, 2000). All species and life stages of birds are susceptible to aflatoxins to varying degrees (Durali et al., 2014). If the daily feed given to chicken before being released is contaminated with low aflatoxin content, chronic consumption, poses a serious risk to the health of animals therefore rising susceptibility to infections or reducing efficacy of vaccines (Chen et al., 2013). Contaminated feed is the main source for aflatoxin infestation of farm animals. Feeds of cereal grain origin and nuts demonstrate the most susceptible commodities for mycotoxin contamination (Sager, 2013). Oral intake of feed contaminated with fungal metabolites results into traces of residues in meat, edible tissues, milk and eggs (Gareis & Wolff, 2000). The capacity of fungi to produce toxins (mycotoxins) depends on the strain involved and the environmental conditions under which it grows (Kajuna et al., 2013). Studies have demonstrated that, aflatoxins are produced by certain fungi in/on foods and feeds and are probably the best known and most intensively studied mycotoxins in the world (Cornell University, 2015). Aflatoxins have received greater attention than any other mycotoxins

because of their demonstrated carcinogenic effect and are the most toxic (Cornell University, 2015; El-Yazeed, *et al.*, 2015).

2.2.2 Types of mycotoxins important in chicken production

2.2.2.1 Aflatoxin

Aflatoxins are a group of mycotoxins mainly produced by Aspergillus flavus, Aspergillus *parasiticus* and *Aspergillus nominus* (Cary *et al.* 2005) as they grow on their substrates. These toxins Aflatoxins are very stable compounds and are known to resist several food processing methods like roasting, extrusion, baking and cooking, therefore, they pose a severe health risk for humans and animals (Marin, et al 2013; Savard 2008; Richard 2007). The major ones are aflatoxins B1 (AFB₁), B2 (AFB₂), G1 (AFG₁) and G2 (AFG₂), thus named according to their fluorescence colour appearance such as blue and green light. Aflatoxin B1 and B2 fluorescent show blue light while G1 and G2 fluorescent show green light (Grace et al., 2015) during lab analysis. The most toxic and prevalent of these is aflatoxin B1 which is classified as a Group 1a carcinogen and associated with both toxicity and carcinogenicity in human and animal populations by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC, 2002). It is known to infect crops at pre-harvest and post-harvest and even during processing. The most commonly infected feeds are: maize, groundnut, cassava, spices, oilseeds, beans, cotton, nuts and animal source feeds like dried fish. Aflatoxin cannot be detected by organoleptic tests like sight or smell in contaminated food or feed neither are they gotten rid of through cooking, or processing (Marin, et al 2013; Savard 2008). Carry-over of aflatoxins from feed to animal tissues depends on the amounts consumed; consequently, large amounts cause death, lowers productivity and suppress the animal's body immunity. Of all mycotoxins, aflatoxin is the most toxic and rated as potential carcinogen in which AFB_1 is the most poisonous and the most occurring (Akande,*et al.*, 2006). Aflatoxin contaminated feed, if consumed by poultry results into reduced weight gain, feed intake, feed conversion efficiency and reproductive performance (Nemati *et al*, 2014). As compared to other mycotoxins especially trichothecenes, elimination of aflatoxins out of the body is slower (Yunus *et al.*, 2011). This is likely to be the reason for it being the most toxic as compared to other mycotoxins in terms of effects on consumers.



Plate 2 Aspergillus flavus responsible of producing Aflatoxins (B₁, B₂, G₁ and G₂) (Source: Biomin, 2017)



Figure 1 Chemical structure of AFB1, AFB2, AFGI, AFG2 (Melissa *et al.*, 2015). Notice the difference in one of the benzene rings (as shown by the arrow); the double bond in AFB1 and AFG1 is an indication of high toxicity

2.2.2.2 Zearalenone

It is produced by Fusarium graminaerum and fusarium culmorum and commonly occurs

in warm and temperate climates on a variety of cereal crops. Zearalenones cause estrogenic effects in various animals especially cattle and sheep. Zearalenone appears to be well tolerated by poultry (Cortyl, 2008). Allen *et al*, (1981) reported that up to 800 ppm of ZON in feed fed to chicks from 6-9 weeks of age does not affect performance of broiler chicken.



Figure 2 Chemical structure of zearalenone (Biomin , 2017)

2.2.2.3 Ochratoxin A

It is a metabolite of some species of *Aspergillus* and *Penecillium*. Ochratoxin A is a major contaminant of cereals such as maize, barley, wheat, oats, soy beans and peanuts in some parts of the world. It is responsible for embryonic death hence poor hatchability and also impairs immune system.



Figure 3 Chemical structure of Ochratoxin A (Biomin, 2017)

2.2.2.4 Fumonisin

Fumonisins are produced by fungi of the genera *Alternaria* and *Fusarium*, mainly by *F*. *moniliforme*, found majorly in corn throughout the world and have been detected in grain and grain products (Scott, 2011). Fumonisins with highest occurrence and toxicological significance in the form FB₁ and FB₂ (Mallmann & Dilkin, 2007) are considered to have cancer promoting activity (Bacon and Nelson 1994).



Figure 4 Chemical structure of Fumonisin (Biomin, 2017)

2.2.2.5 Trichothecenes

Trichothecenes are known to be the most harmful small molecule which inhibit protein synthesis with main toxic effect synthesis of DNA and RNA at the cellular level (Rocha *et al.*, 2005). Trichothecenes toxins show symptoms such as; decreased egg production and poor egg shell quality, oral lesions, growth retardation, feathers easily pull out,

regression of the gland- bursa of Fabricius, slows blood coagulation, leucopoenia and proteinemia, peroxidative changes in liver and immunosuppression (Danicke, 2002).

2.2.3 Aflatoxin biotransformation/metabolism in the liver

Biotransformation is the process whereby a chemical substance is changed from one chemical form to another (transformed) by a series of enzymatic or chemical reaction(s) within the body and the eventual excretion of the byproducts or metabolites mainly through renal excretion (Bbosa et al., 2013). Aflatoxins are not toxic per se, but they undergo biotransformation in the liver by CYP1A2 and CYP3A4 isoenzymes (or the cytochrome P450 family of enzymes) by the initial two electron transfer oxidation reactions to become an active metabolite; exo-AFB1-8, 9-epoxide (AFBO) and exert its toxicity (Chen et al., 2013; Wild et al., 2002; Vondracek, et al., 2001). Aflatoxins (AFBs), in the liver, mainly AFB1 are bio-transformed to various metabolites which biomolecules/macromolecules including nucleic acids, interact with such as deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA), ribonucleic acid (RNA) lead to metabolic activation. The binding of 8,9 epoxide of aflatoxin with DNA is formed with the N7 of guanine, to form adducts Af-N7-guanine in the target cell (Bbosa et al., 2013). Aflatoxicol is produced which is less toxic as compared to AFB1 but the conversion is reversible and the aflatoxicol can serve as a reservoir toxicity of AFB1 in the intracellular space (Bbosa et al.,2013; Bemvenuti et al., 2011)

Toxigenic moulds are known to produce one or more of the toxic secondary metabolites. It is well established that not all moulds are toxigenic and not all secondary metabolites from molds are toxic (H-Bemvenuti *et al.*, 2011). There are five mechanisms responsible for the biotransformation of Aflatoxin (AFB1) such as reduction, epoxidation, hydration, hydroxylation and ortho-demethylation as shown in Figure 5.



Figure 5: Metabolism of aflatoxin in liver (Source; Dhanasekaran *et al.*, 2011). Metabolites are known to accumulate in various tissues of chicken such as liver, kidney, adipose (fat), muscles,(like thigh, breast) and eggs (Dhanasekaran *et al.*, 2011; H-Bemvenuti *et al.*, 2011; Radmila, *et.al.*, 2009). After absorption, 80-90 percent of aflatoxins consumed are absorbed in the upper part of the small intestine (Chen *et al.*, 2013)

2.2.4 General effects of mycotoxins on chicken, man and other animals

The occurrence and incidence of Aflatoxins, Ochratoxin A and Zearalenon in chicken meat and eggs are alarming and may cause health hazards and raising the need for continuous monitoring of there control (Shazad *et al.*, 2014). Blood *et al* (1999) reported that *Aspergillus, fusarium* and *penicillium* are common species of fungi infecting stored feeds and those growing in the field. The ability of fungi to produce toxic metabolites depends on the strain involved (Kajuna *et al.*, 2013). These compounds have adverse
health effects such as kidney and liver damage, mutagenic and teratogenic effects, birth defects, and cancerous effects that result in symptoms ranging from skin irritation to immuno-suppression, neurotoxicity, and death (Bennett and Klich 2003). Studies have shown that oral intake of fungal metabolites with feed, by animals, results in traces of residues in meat, edible tissues and eggs (Gareis et al., 2000). Ochratoxin has been found to reduce egg production, egg weight and weight gain. Trichothecenes causes decreased resistance to environmental and microbial stressors and increased susceptibility to disease, anorexia, egg shell quality decreases and impaired feed conversion ratio (Nutriad, 2014). Biomin (2017) reported that contamination of feedstuffs with aflatoxin toxins poses a serious threat to the health and productivity of animals especially low fertility, immune suppression and even death. Reduced protein synthesis results in reduced production of essential metabolic enzymes and structural proteins for growth. Relatively high dosages (200ppb) of aflatoxins in chicks result in hepatocellular necrosis; prolonged low dosages result in reduced growth rate, immunosuppression, and liver enlargement (Osweiler, 2014). Dietary aflatoxin reduces weight gain and feed intake and worsens feed efficiency (Chen et al., 2013). These will depend on; the toxins (type, level consumed and duration of intake), animals (species, sex, age, breed, health, immune status and nutrition) and Environment (management, temperature, hygiene).

Most studies have shown that chickens consuming diets contaminated with aflatoxin show renal lesions, lower growth rate, diminished immune performance and lower survival rates than birds fed contaminant-free diets. Poultry species are the most susceptible food animals to AFB1 and even small amounts of AFB1 in feed, where upon consumption results in significant adverse health effects, growth retardation, immunological alterations and histological changes in the liver which may result into death (Devreese, et al., 2013). When aflatoxins are present in feed and food, they are potentially hazardous to the health of the animals and human beings due to their carcinogenic and mutagenic effects (Shazad, et. al., 2014). Poultry products (meat and eggs) derived from chicken consuming contaminated diets are crucial in safe food chain, hence special attention should be directed towards determining and preventing possible contamination in the chain (Radmila, et al., 2009). When feed contain more than one complex and diverse mycotoxins, poultry will show various responses associated with toxins responsible. (Anonymous, 2015). It is also reported that mycotoxins may act independently or interact with genetic, hormonal and age factors (Nutriad, 2015). Interaction of mycotoxins in the animal often leads to a more adverse mycotoxicosis and alter clinical manifestations of individual mycotoxins hence complicating field diagnosis (Durali., 2014). Aflatoxins are known to be carcinogenic, mutagenic and teratogenic in several species of animals. The target organ in aflatoxicosis is the liver but some studies have reported a high level of aflatoxicosis in such organs as the brain, kidney, myocardium and the lung and causes cirrhosis and acute necrosis of the liver (Gulyas, 2013; http://www.mycotoxins.org/ 2017). Clinical signs of mycotoxin poisoning are either classified into acute, sub acute, or chronic poisoning. Acute poisonings have a violent course and dramatic reaction in the body of the organism. Chronic and sub-acute poisoning are caused by low doses of aflatoxin consumed for a long time, and these may cause liver cancer (aflatoxins) or disorders of the kidney associated with ochratoxins as reported by Lazicka et al (2010).

2.2.5 Specific effects of Aflatoxins

2.2.5.1 Effects of aflatoxins on eggs

Contamination of the diet with mycotoxins increase late mortality of embryos, increase the number of infertile eggs and impair hatchability (Nutriad, 2015). Aflatoxins reduce carotinoid content, which also prevent the oxidation and destruction of fragile, vital substances such as vitamins in egg yolk and elevated plasma uric acid level (Nutriad, 2015). Mallmann *et al.*, (2011) reported that embryo mortality in eggs intoxicated with aflatoxins happens because these substances, after being biotransformed in the liver, is eliminated from the body through the egg yolk especially aflatoxin M_1 . Aflatoxin B_1 and aflatoxicol is found in the yolk within 24 hours after ingestion hence contaminating the yolk, egg white and egg shell. The shell becomes thicker, thus affecting hatchability due to reduction in gas exchange, by reducing the number of air spores on the egg shell, between the embryo and the environment (Mallmann et al., 2011). Besides reducing the production of eggs, aflatoxicosis also induces a reduction in egg size, as well as the proportional reduction in the size of the yolk, due to the damage caused in the lipid and protein synthesis (Mallman *et al.*, 2011). In layer hens feed intake and egg production can be reduced and irregular pigmentation may occur on brown eggs (Durali et al., 2014). Oliveira et al (2000) reported that AF in laying hen feeds can result in an AF residue in the eggs with a feed to egg AFB1 transmission ratio of approximately 5000:1); therefore it is very important to control AF concentrations in feeds for laying hens.

2.2.5.2 Effects of aflatoxins on meat

Mould contamination of frozen chicken meat and giblets may lead to their spoilage and production

of mycotoxins with potential health hazards to human due to their carcinogenic effects, liver diseases and organ damage (Darwish, *et al.*, 2014).



Plate 3 A tumorous liver of a rat fed on aflatoxin B1 (*http://www.ansci.cornell.edu*, 2015)
2.2.5.3 Effects of aflatoxins on immunity of poultry

Trichothecenes causes decreased resistance to environmental and microbial stressors and increased susceptibility to disease, anorexia, egg shell quality decreases, impairs feed conversion ratio (Nutriad., 2015). Acute form of aflatoxin poisoning in poultry is rare because they are considerably resistant to it (Radmila *et al.*, 2009). All animal species are susceptible to aflatoxin, but outbreak occurs mostly in pigs, sheep and cattle (Radostits *et al.*, 2000). Aflatoxin can cause oncogenesis, chronic toxicity or peracute signs depending on the species, age of animal, dose and duration of aflatoxin exposure (Smith, 2002). Low

or undetectable levels of aflatoxins are responsible for reduced production and increased susceptibility to infectious diseases (Nutriad, 2015). Mycotoxic effects include mutagenesis due to alkylation of nuclear DNA, carcinogenesis, teratogenesis, reduced protein synthesis, and immunosuppression. Aflatoxin has the greatest potential effects and can to bind to DNA and RNA and inhibit synthesis of macromolecules through interference of transcription and aspects of protein synthesis (Murugesan, *et al.*, 2015). Immunosuppression in chickens can be favoured by several factors such as nutritional, management, diseases and stress which suppress immune functions and may decrease resistance to other infections (Biomin, 2017).

Epidemiological data of recent studies has indicated that there's a high correlation between Newcastle disease outbreaks and aflatoxin contamination of broiler rations (Yunus *et al.*, 2011). Aflatoxin is an inhibitor of protein synthesis and represses thymus gland development and the weight of the bursa of Fabricius, resulting in serious deficiencies in cellular and antibody responsiveness of chicken immune system (Celik *et al.*, 2000). Inhibited macrophage functions, T lymphocyte activity and or cytokine expression by aflatoxin, causes vaccine pathogen persistence which leads to low immunoglobulin production (Verma *et al*, 2004; Yunus *et al*, 2011). Evidence has shown that immunosuppression aflatoxins results in disease outbreaks, poor antibody titres and vaccination failures (Devegowda *et al*, 2005).

2.2.5.4 Effects of aflatoxins on economy

According to the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), more than 25% of the world's agricultural production is contaminated with mycotoxins, resulting in economic

losses in the grain industry (Bullerman et al., 2011; Lawlor and Lynch, 2005). Animals are considered the most exposed to high concentration of aflatoxins through feedstuffs that resulting into several health problems resulting into large economic losses. These losses are well pronounced in meat and eggs in terms of quality and quantity as a result of contamination with aflatoxins residues (Bintvihok et al., 2002; Hall and Wild, 2003; Farombi, 2006). Aflatoxin losses to poultry producers from aflatoxin-contaminated feeds include death and immune suppression, reduced growth rates, and losses in feed efficiency hence negatively affecting productivity (Cornell University, 2015). Aflatoxins have a significant impact on poultry health, thus affecting international trade (Zhang et al., 2013). Low levels of residual AFB1 in poultry feeds can cause reduction in growth, feed conversion, egg production and compromised immune functions, resulting in significant economic costs to producers (Melissa et al., 2015). Discovery and isolation of aflatoxin back in 1960, as Turkey-X disease, when several thousands of turkey poults in the United Kingdom died (Mallmann et al., 2011). Aflatoxin contamination remains a threat to the chicken production and results in economic losses to producers due to sublethal toxic effects (Chen et al., 2013). The carcinogenic effect and related diseases in humans given their seemingly unavoidable occurrence in foods and feeds make the prevention and detoxification of these aflatoxins one of the most challenging toxicological issues of present time (Cornell University, 2015)

2.3 Feeds

Masked mycotoxins are chemically modified by specific biochemical reaction in which mycotoxins can be bound to certain ingredients in feeds for instance glycosides, fatty acid esters and proteins This makes them undetectable by conventional methods of analysis but

unmasked during digestion thus affect the animal are process: (http://www.mycotoxins.info/myco-info/ani, 2015). Broad variety of information on the effects of individual mycotoxins in various animal species, are offered but concurrent exposure to multiple mycotoxins is more likely in livestock industry and thus lowers production (Zaki *et al*, 2012). Along with primary contamination of crops, aflatoxins can be transferred to meat and eggs of poultry fed on these toxins (Melissa *et al.*, 2015). The economic impact of aflatoxins on poultry production is related to direct effects on health and grain (feed) rejection (Antonissen et al, 2016).

Effects of climate change are a threat to food and feed security in many regions of the globe, including sub-Saharan Africa (Wheeler and Von Braun, 2013). Previous studies have indicated the presence of mycotoxins in poultry feed (Bryden, 2012; Astoreca et al., 2011). They mainly contaminate cereals and grains such as rice, maize, sorghum, millet, groundnuts and dried cassava during the storage and poor processing conditions (Bbosa et al., 2013). Aflaoxins are produced during stages such as: production, harvest, transportation, storage and food processing (Murphy et al., 2006). Miller (1994) reported that animal feeds with ingredients such as oil seed cakes, peanuts and coconut cake or corn grits often contain aflatoxins. A global survey on mycotoxin done in 2013 revealed that 81% of 3,000 grain and feed samples that were analyzed had at least one type of mycotoxin (Murugesan, et al., 2015). Mycotoxins are highly resistant toxins and therefore, their destruction by conventional food processing is difficult (Murphy et al., 2006). Fusarium species are the main contaminants of poultry feed hence are responsible for reduced performance and increased susceptibility to infections (Nutriad, 2014). The fungi grow and proliferate well in cereals, especially maize, wheat and sorghum, where

they find a highly nutritious substrate for their development. The fungal growth and aflatoxin production in cereals may occur at different stages of development, maturation, harvesting, transporting, processing or storage of grain. Therefore, the reduction of grain moisture by drying is important for the reduction of the levels of contamination (Mallmann & Dilkin, 2007).

Nutritive value of infected grains and cereals drops after contamination by moulds (Iheshiulor, 2011) and fungi are known to consume fats, protein and carbohydrates making them unavailable to the animal (Zaki *et al.*,2011). Mycotoxins also affect the alimentary value and organoleptic characteristic of feed and hence a risk of toxicosis (Inheshiulor *et al*, 2011).

2.3.1 Effects of contaminated feed on chicken productivity

Several studies have shown that animals consuming contaminated hay or feed, there's increase disease incidence and reduced production efficiency. Some of the gross effects of mycotoxins can include: 1) Reduce feed intake and feed refusal 2) Reduction in nutrient absorption and metabolism 3) Digestive disorders including haemorrhage and necrosis 4) Tissue and organ damage 5) Gangrene of the extremities 6) Endocrine effects and skin lesions 7) Reproductive disorders, embryonic death, abortions and oral lesions 8) Nervous disorders, tremors and poor coordination 9) Suppression of the immune system 10) Death (Prairie View A & M University, 2012). Andretta *et al.*, (2011) and Chen *et al.*, (2013) observed that an average aflatoxin concentration of 0.95 mg/kg reduced both feed intake and daily weight gain by 11 percent and worsened feed conversion by 6 percent.

2.3.2 Effects of aflatoxins on human beings

Aflatoxins B1 are human carcinogens while fumonisins, like AFB1, are carcinogenic and may contribute to neural tube defects (Han *et al.*, 2008). Aflatoxin B₁ is the most prevalent and toxic form for humans due to its strong carcinogenic, mutagenic and teratogenic effects (Santacroce *et al.*, 2008 & Han *et al.*, 2008). It has also been demonstrated that AFB1 is associated with a high incidence of human cancers of the liver, breast, prostate, and gastrointestinal tract; protein-energy malnutrition in children as well is linked to progression of HIV infection, especially in low-income countries (Cardwell, 2001; Turner *et al.*, 2007; Wild *et al.*, 2010; Wu *et al.*, 2011). The body excretes these toxins and research has shown that elimination of Aflatoxins especially AFB₁ from tissues is rapid in older poults than in younger ones (Yunus *et al.*, 2011).

Table 1 Effects of aflatoxin on human health

Organs/ Systems affected	Aflatoxin effects
Nervous system	Abnormal Behavior, depression
Reproductive System	neonatal outcomes-low birth weight
Growth	Reduced growth rate
Gene and Gene Expression	Teratogenic effect (birth defect) due to base transversion, mutation and glutathione alterations
Gene and Gene Suppression	Carcinogenic effect—higher incidence of cancer
Immunosuppression	Decreased resistance and susceptibility to, HIV, TB, and other opportunistic infections due to effect on lymphocytes and T-cells

(Source: Dr Subroto Mukherjee USAID/East Africa, 2015)

2.4 Predisposing factors to mycotoxicosis

Approximately 4.5 billion of the world's population is exposed to aflatoxins (Williams *et al.*, 2004) due to its worldwide presence. Factors that determine aflatoxin contamination in feed include; climate of the region, the genotype of the crop grown, soil type, minimum and maximum daily temperatures and daily net evaporation (Strosnider *et al.*, 2006). Studies have shown that, aflatoxin contamination is promoted by stress or damage to crops before and after harvest, due to drought, insect activity, poor timing of harvest, heavy rains during and after harvest, inadequate drying of the crop before storage and levels of humidity, temperature and aeration during storage (Cotty & Jaime-García, 2007; Paterson & Lima, 2010; *www.intechopen.com*)₂ Temperatures above 27°C (80°F), humidity levels greater than 62% and moisture levels in the feed above 14% enhances the synthesis of aflatoxins in feeds (Royes and Yanong, 2002). Environmental conditions such as heat, water, and insect damage cause plant stress and predispose plants in the field to aflatoxin contamination (Prairie View A & M University, 2012).

2.5 Food safety levels

Aflatoxic compounds can contaminate food and feedstuffs and these contaminated materials may be pathogenic for animals and humans; therefore, one of the most effective measures to protect the public health is to establish reasonable regulatory limits of these mycotoxins. Consequently, guidelines regarding the allowed levels of mycotoxins present in food and feed products and in raw materials have been established by the FAO (2001). Commercially accessible multiple mycotoxin analysis assist in greater understanding of overall risk to animals as well as allowing for development of improved mycotoxin management solutions (Durali *et al.*, 2014). World Health Organization (WHO) classifies

AFB1 as a human carcinogen and proposes no safe dose (El-Yazeed, *et al.*, 2015). However the objectives of food and feed safety measures are to guarantee a high level of protection of human health and of consumers' interests while also taking into account animal health and welfare, plant health and the environment (Rentokil, 2013)

Table 2: U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) action levels for total aflatoxins in food and feed

Feedstuff/ Products	Concentration (ppb)
All products, except milk, designated for	20
humans	20
Corn for immature animals and dairy cattle	20
Corn and peanut products for breeding beef	100
cattle, swine, and mature poultry	100
Corn and peanut products for finishing	200
swine (>100 lbs.)	200
Corn and peanut products for finishing beef	300
cattle	500
Cottonseed meal (as a feed ingredient)	300
Milk	0.5

Most of these set levels /standards are accepted in most parts of the world (Dohlman, 2004). In Kenya, these levels have been lowered, by KEBS, to 10ppb in feedstuffs and animal products except for milk. These safety levels (Table 2) have been set to control levels of mycotoxin/aflatoxin so as to minimize their effects on man and animals who consume the feeds and products. Some organizations, like FDA, are in the forefront to ensure these standards are adhered to in most parts of the world. In each country, there is a legislative framework which regulates the levels of toxins, like aflatoxins,

contaminating food and feedstuffs especially those deemed toxic to human and animal health. These safety regulatory standards have implications for both international and local trade of cereal crops which can result in barriers for the export or import of commodities and products from most parts of the world (Chen *et al.*, 2013).

Tolerance levels: Dietary levels of aflatoxin (ppb) generally tolerated are \leq 50 in young poultry, \leq 100 in adult poultry, \leq 50 in weaner pigs, \leq 200 in finishing pigs, <50 in dogs, <100 in calves, and <300 in cattle (Osweiler, 2014).

2.5.1 Known organizations / commissions concerned with mycotoxins

Organizat	ion			Ref	erence	
Codex Alimentarius Commission (Codex)			(www.code	(www.codexalimentarius.org/)		
FAO - Foo	d and Agriculture	Organizati	ion	(www.fao.o	org)	
FDA- Food	l and Drug Admini	stration (U	USA)	(www.fda.g	gov)	
KEBS- Ke	nya Bureau of Star	dards		(https/www	.kebs.org	/#)
PACA-	Partnership	for	Aflatoxin	Control	in	Africa
(htt	ps/www.aflatoxinp	artnership	<i>o.org/)</i>			
WHO - Wo	orld Health Organiz	zation		(FAO/WHO	D, 2001)	

2.5.2 Methods of preventing and controlling mycotoxins

Mycotoxicoses are generally not successfully treated with medical approach but preventive approach is preferred- this approach deals with recognition of risk factors and avoiding or reducing exposure (Osweiler, 2014). Aflatoxins accumulation often occur during storage and therefore post-harvest control measures aims to minimize fungal growth and aflatoxin production (Eva *et al.*, 2011). Best management practices are aimed

at prevention of the occurrence of mycotoxins during harvesting and storage, inactivation of the preformed toxin in grain or feed and in the GI tract (Osweiler., 2014). Control of mycotoxins during growing seasons and storage is a crop management problem and food technology consideration respectively (Tumbleson, et al., 2006). Other preventive measures include: Testing of suspect grain at harvest, maintaining clean and dry storage facilities, using acid additives to control mould growth in storage and reducing storage time of prepared feeds (Osweiler, 2014). Controlling moisture in feed materials from which the feed is prepared, complete elimination of all moldy feed from all feed manufacturing and handling equipment, use of chemical mold inhibitors such as: (1) individual or combinations of organic acids (propionic, sorbic, benzoic, and acetic acids), (2) salts of organic acids (calcium propionate and potassium sorbate) and (3) copper sulfate, use of probiotics and use of resistant domestic poultry (Melissa et al., 2015). Biologically, use of different microorganisms such as lactobacillus pentosus and lactobacillus brevis is considered another way of reducing aflatoxin in livestock feed (Hasheminya and Dehghannya., 2013). Prevention and control will make a significant contribution to poverty alleviation, food security and the early detection and control of zoonotic diseases (FAO, 2008b).

CHAPTER THREE

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Study area



Figure 6: Map of area of study

Coordinates (GPS): Busia: Latitude: $0^{0}25'59.99$ N; Longitude: $34^{0}08'60.00$ E. Elevation: 1198m (http://latitude.to/articles-bycounty/ke/Kenya/41241/Busia-County); Kakamega: Latitude: $0^{0}16'60.00$ N; Longitude: $34^{0}45'0.00$ E. Elevation: 1240m-2000m (http://latitude.to/articles-by-county/ke/Kenya/40817/Kakamega-county); Siaya: Lat: $0^{0}04'60.00$ N; Long: $34^{0}14'60.00$ E. Elevation 1319m (4327 feet) (http://latitude.to/articles-bycounty/ke/Kenya/39121/Siaya- County)

A baseline survey was carried out (Appendix 5) in three Counties of Western Kenya namely; Siaya, Busia and Kakamega. Three sub counties per County were selected, viz: Siaya (Gem, Alego and Ugenya.), Busia (Teso South, Matayos and Nambale) and in Kakamega (Lurambi, Lugari and Navakholo).

3.2 Sampling of farms and sample collection

This formula was used to determine sample size; $n = \frac{Z^2 p(1-p)}{1^2}$ (Fischer, 1998) Where; \mathbf{n} - sample size of population>10,000; \mathbf{Z} -Normal deviation at desired confidence interval (95%); **P** - proportion of population with desired traits; 1^2 - degree of precision A total of 180 farms were selected, sixty (60) in each County. A multi- stage sampling technique was used. Counties were purposively selected based on indigenous chicken population and activeness (still engaged actively in indigenous chicken production) of the poultry farmer groups. In every County, 3 sub Counties were purposively selected and in each these sub Counties, two Wards were identified. In each Ward two locations were identified where two farmer groups (a youth and a women group) were selected and from each group, five members were purposively selected to complete a questionnaire (Appendix 6). These members had mixed flock as per age (12-16 weeks & >36 weeks)old), 10 or more chicken (population) and layer(s). Together with two (2) University of Eldoret students at masters' level and two (2) undergraduate interns under training and frontline field Extension Officers, the survey was conducted from late February (21/02) to mid-March (12/03) 2016. Feed Samples were collected from the first, third and fifth farmer in each group. Egg samples were collected from the first and fifth farmers while chicken were obtained from the first identified farmer in each group. This farmer gave two chicken one young (12-16 weeks old) and one adult (> 36 weeks old). A total of 60 eggs were collected and 60 chicken were sacrificed and from each chicken approximately 30g of liver, breast muscle, thigh muscles and 15g of kidney (they are smaller) samples (Appendix 2) were collected for laboratory analysis, (according to analyzing lab recommendations; 10-30g per sample) giving a total of 240 tissue samples. A total of 260 feed samples were collected and 60 of them were sub-sampled (from these samples) and submitted for proximate laboratory analysis to establish nutrient composition. Tissue samples were collected and put in well labeled zip-lock bags and kept in a cooler box with ice packs (Plate 4; c & d) and later stored in a freezer (model: No RLFF 13242; SERIAL NO: 2G0341.RF/136) at-15° C. (Appendix 1). Feed samples for aflatoxin analysis was done by another researcher.







С



d

Plate 4: Chicken tissue samples (a & b) are packed (c) and preserved (d) (Source: Author, 2016)

3.3: Sample analysis

3.3.1: Feed sample analysis

Unground feed samples (60) were submitted to the Laboratory (KALRO-Naivasha Laboratory) which was then ground to pass through a 1mm sieve before analysis. Feed

samples were weighed on a weighing machine – (OHAUSTM), PA413 (OHAUS Corporation USA; <u>www.ohaus.com</u> and were subjected to proximate analysis method (AOAC, 2000) to determine dry matter (DM) (%), crude protein (CP) (%) and ash (%).). DM content was determined by drying samples at 105°C for 20 h. Crude protein was determined by Kjeldahl method using a digester block Gerhardt^R Kieldatherm Digester (Kjedal) and was distilled in a distillation machine – (Kjeltec 8200 Auto Distillation, Type 10014901; Yr, 2011. Serial No.91708870, FOSS). Crude protein value was achieved by multiplying the nitrogen by correction factor 6.25 which is based on the fact that most protein contains 16% nitrogen (AOAC, 2000). Ashing was carried out in a muffle furnace - Heraeus Hanau, Type MR 170, Holland (WC Heraeus GMBH, Hanau) for 3 h at 550°C.

3.3.2: Egg and tissue sample analysis for total aflatoxins

Eggs samples were submitted to the laboratory (Appendix 3) at room temperature (Plate 5: 1). Eggs were broken and the albumin and yolk poured out into a beaker (Plate 5: 2 & 3). Egg samples were analyzed using competitive ELISA method (Zhang *et al.*, 2011) where 70% Methanol (to extract aflatoxins) was added to 20g of sample, stirred for 10 minutes and filtered in a whattmans paper (Plate 5: 3). Conjugate, substrate and antibody were mixed in microwells (Appendix 4) before inserting into the aflatoxin kit (*helica*–Total Aflatoxin Assay, Cat. No.941AFL01M-96, USA) where analysis was done and the results are released in a sheet of paper (Plate 5: 4 & 5)



Plate 5: Egg samples are stored well in cold chamber of the fridge (1), then broken (2), contents are poured in a beaker, stirred and filtered (3). Microwells are inserted into microwell-holder in the analyzer (4) and the results are printed in a sheet of paper (5).

(Source: Author, 2016)

•

Chicken tissue samples were submitted to the laboratory when frozen and subjected to competitive ELISA method (Zhang *et al.*, 2011). Each tissue sample weighing 10g was ground and 50ml of 70% methanol was added and shaken for 20 minutes using a shaker. The sample was then centrifuged for about 10 minutes at 4000 rpm and the resultant fluid (supernatant) is mixed with 1ml of distilled water. The content was then poured into microwells (containing conjugate, substrate and antibody) at 50µl/well. The wells were then inserted into the analyzer (Model: 1055-04, MaxSignal®, Bioo Scientific Corporation; Total Aflatoxin ELISA Test Kit, USA, 2008; <u>www.biooscientific.com</u>) and the results are read.

3.4 Data analysis

Survey data collected was based on; indigenous chicken production and production systems. The survey data collected was analyzed by use of Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) Version 25. Feed data was analyzed based on, Dry matter %, Crude protein % and Ash % using Genstat 14th Edition. Tissue and egg data were analyzed based on aflatoxin levels on; age of chicken (adult and young), group type (women and youth), Counties and sub Counties using Genstat 14th Edition.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS

4.1 Indigenous chicken and production system

Types of chicken reared, among rural households, in this region included indigenous, improved indigenous (genetically improved for traits like growth rate, broodiness and weight gain), crosses and others (exotic chicken, turkeys, ducks & geese). Indigenous chicken were common among other types (Table 3).

Table 3: Chicken types and their number in Siaya, Busia and Kakamega Counties in 180 households

County	Types and number of chicken				
County	Indigenous	Improved indigenous	Crosses	Others	
Siaya	1768	455	78	37	
Busia	2547	57	11	10	
Kakamega	1882	861	57	80	
Total	6197	1373	146	127	
Percentage (%)	79.01	17.51	1.86	1.62	

Free range and semi free range systems were the most preferred in the three Counties; Farmers practicing free range production system were 60%, 58% and 29% in Kakamega, Busia and Siaya Counties, respectively. Semi-free range production system was practiced by 35%, 42% and 70% of farmers in Kakamega, Busia and Siaya Counties, respectively while Intensive production system was minimally practiced in Kakamega (5%), Busia (0%) and Siaya (2%), (Table 4).

	Production systems (%)				
Counties	Free range	Semi free range	Intensive		
Siaya	28.8	69.5	1.7		
Busia	58.3	41.7	0.0		
Kakamega	60.0	35.0	5.0		

Table 4 Chicken Production Systems in Siaya, Busia and Kakamega Counties of Western Kenya

Table 5 Proportion of farmers practicing FR, SFR and Intensive systems in Siaya, Busia and Kakamega Counties

	Production System (%)				
County	Sub-County	FR	SFR	Intensive	
	Teso South	65.0	35.0	0.0	
Busia	Matayos	50.0	50.0	0.0	
	Nambale	80.0	20.0	0.0	
	Lurambi	40.0	55.0	5.0	
Kakamega	Lugari	70.0	30.0	0.0	
	Navakholo	70.0	25.0	5.0	
	Gem	45.0	50.0	5.0	

Siaya	Alego Usonga	45.0	55.0	0.0
	Ugenya	65.0	35.0	0.0

FR-free range; SFR-semi free range

Most of the chicken farmers in Nambale , Lugari and Navakholo sub-Counties practiced free range system at 80% , 70% and 70%, respectively, while semi free range system was equally practiced in Alego , Lurambi , Matayos and Gem at 55%, 55%, 50% and 50%, respectively. Less than 5% of the farmers practiced intensive system across the sub-Counties as shown in Table 5. This was an indication that intensive system is not popular among the poultry farmers particularly in rural areas where there's still space for chicken to scavenge.

Production System %	Duration of keeping chicken (Years)					
	<5	5-10	11-15	>15		
Free range	38.6	23.9	11.4	26.1		
Semi free range	58.0	17.0	4.5	20.5		
Intensive	75.0	25.0	0.0	0.0		

Table 6 Duration of farmers' involvement in different chicken production systems

Most farmers (75%) who practiced intensive and semi free range (58%) systems had done so for less than 5 years while those who practiced free range for the same period of time were only 38.6%. However, 26.1% and 20.5% of the farmers had practiced free range and semi free range, respectively, for over 15 years (Table 6).



Plate 6 Indigenous chicken kept under free range (1), semi free range (2) and Intensive (3) systems of production taken during data collection (Source: Author, 2016)

_	Reason for poultry keeping (%)					
County	Economi c	Nutritional	Cultural	Health	Other	
SIAYA	40.0	16.7	3.3	36.7	3.3	
BUSIA	31.7	26.7	6.7	30.0	5.0	
KAKAMEG A	38.3	21.7	3.3	26.7	10.0	
MEAN	36.7	21.7	4.4	31.13	6.1	

Table 7 Reasons of keeping indigenous chicken in Busia, Kakamega and Siaya Counties

Indigenous chicken were kept for reasons such as; economic, health, nutritional and cultural values. Indigenous chicken are kept majorly for economic (36.7%) and for health (31.13%) reasons. Cultural reasons (4.4%) and other reasons (6.1%), like breeding, sports, hobby, were not valued much during the study as shown in Table 7.

	Age Category				
	0-19 (young youth)	20-40 (Mature youth)	41-60 (Adults)	>60 (Elders)	
Free range	0.9	55.7	33.0	10.4	
Semi free range	1.4	45.1	42.3	11.3	
Intensive	0.0	0.0	66.7	33.3	
Mean	0.7	33.6	47.3	18.4	

 Table 8: Influence of famer age on production system in chicken production

NB The age grouping is applied for the purpose of this research only.

Most youths (55.7%) aged between 20-40 years preferred keeping poultry under free range system compared to adults aged between 41-60 years (66.7%) who preferred intensive system. Most indigenous chicken farmers (47.3%) were of age category 41-60 years but only 0.7% was of age category 0-19 years (Table 8).



Figure 7 Education level versus production system

Education level of respondents (primary, secondary, tertiary and informal) influenced the kind of production system engaged in. Most (75%) of the respondents with informal education engaged in the free range, those with secondary level (4.41%) of education tried the intensive system of production. On the other hand those with tertiary level of education (53.33%) preferred semi free range system as shown in Figure 7.

4.2 Feeds

Proximate analysis was carried out to determine DM%, CP% and ASH% as shown in Table 9. Maize and sorghum (Plate 1) was the most common feed ingredient, across the

study area, thus it is necessary to compare their nutrient composition as per the regions so as to form a basis of feed rationing. More comparison are shown in Table 9

Nutrient (%)	Counties				
	Busia	Kakamega	Siaya		
		Maize			
DM	89.67±0.19 *	88.75±0.19	88.94±0.20		
СР	7.56±0.20	7.64±0.30	8.90±0.40		
ASH	0.90±0.11	0.82±0.10	1.33±0.10		
		<u>Sorghum</u>			
DM	90.12±0.30	89.56±0.03	89.13±0.15		
СР	10.68±0.60	9.77	9.82±2.0		
ASH	1.99±0.25	2.64±0.06	2.0±0.11		

 Table 9: Mean nutrient composition of maize and sorghum as indigenous chicken feed ingredients

•Mean ± SEM (standard error of mean)

Cassava, fed to chicken broken, ground or boiled, was common as a chicken feed in Busia and Siaya counties. Therefore the study sought to establish its quality as shown in Table 10. Cassava from Siaya was high in ash content as compared to that from Busia.

	Cassava in counties	
	Busia	Siaya
DM	89.2±0.19 •	89.6±0.23
СР	2.60±0.33	2.23±0.32
ASH	2.17±0.09	3.05±0.48

Table 10 Mean nutrient composition of cassava as feed ingredient for indigenous chicken

•Mean ± SEM (standard error of mean)

Groundnuts were common in Kakamega and Siaya counties and their nutrient quality is shown in Table 11. Groundnuts from Kakamega County have high ash content than those from Siaya County but the CP% is not significantly different between the two areas.

Nutrient (%)	Counties	
	Kakamega	Siaya
DM	93.91±0.63 •	94.08±0.04
СР	20.75±2.24	19.07±1.4
ASH	6.23±2.57	3.4±0.17

 Table 11 Mean nutrient content of groundnuts (%) as feed ingredient for indigenous chickens

•Mean ± SEM (standard error of mean)

Some farmers made their own rations (home-made-rations) using available feed ingredients while others used commercial feeds and analysis became necessary to determine their quality as shown in Table 12. Homemade rations from Siaya had the lowest ash content while that from Kakamega was high in CP content. Commercial feeds from Siaya were high in percent CP and ASH as compared to those from Busia. There is no difference in CP content between the two feedstuffs; however, ASH content was different with commercial feeds having high values across the Counties as shown in Table 12.

Nutrients		Counties	
	Busia	Kakamega	Siaya
		<u>HMR</u> ·	
DM	91.6±0.82 •	91.5	89.6±0.23
СР	10.3±1.77	17.21	7.16±1.18
ASH	16.5±10.15	17.8	4.9±1.83
		<u>Commercial</u> Feeds	
DM	92.23±0.36	92.11±1.03	92.47±0.03
СР	7.58±0.92	11.88±0.61	13.72±0.47
ASH	15.0±2.89	18.99±13.02	21.44±5.25

Table 12 Mean nutrient (%) of home-made rations (HMR) and commercial poultry feeds.

•Mean ± SEM (standard error of mean), HMR: Home-made rations

The study sought to analyze specific commonly used commercial feeds like layers mash which had high CP% and ASH% content as compared to chick mash and Kienyeji mash as shown in Table 13.

Table 13 Mean nutrient content of	of specific	commercial feeds	s of indigenous	s chicken
-----------------------------------	-------------	------------------	-----------------	-----------

Food type	Nutrient levels (%)			
reeu type	DM	СР	ASH	
Kienyeji mash	91.5 ±0.4 •	9.57 ±2.91	13.84 ±4.05	
Layers mash	92.8 ±0.32	12.73 ± 1.46	27.45 ±0.76	
Growers mash	92.52 ± 0.08	10.88 ±2.38	14.16 ± 2.04	

•Mean ± SEM (standard error of mean)

Feedstuffs used as chicken feed was also compared for quality. Groundnuts have higher CP %, Commercial feeds have the highest ASH% content while maize have the lowest ASH%. The DM% had no difference among the feedstuffs as shown in figure 8. High ash content of layers mash is an indication of minerals incorporated in feed for bone development and egg development for layers.

4.3 Aflatoxin Residues in chicken eggs and tissues

A proportion of farmers in Siaya (68%), Busia (73%) and Kakamega (65%) were well aware of aflatoxins contamination but not the effects on chicken and feed quality. Egg samples in all the three Counties of study area were found to contain traces of aflatoxin as shown in Figure 9.



Figure 8 Mean aflatoxin levels (Ppb) in indigenous chicken eggs in Busia, Kakamega and Siaya

Method of handling (or production system) chicken in relation to aflatoxin exposure was one of the objectives of this study, the results revealed that there is no difference in aflatoxin levels in tissues of chicken under free range and semi free range production systems except for thigh muscle (TM) which have high levels in free rangers than those of semi free rangers as shown in table 14

Production system	Tissue	Mean
	BM	3.753±0.439 •
Semi free range	Κ	1.926±0.387
	L	3.953±0.520
	TM	2.276 ± 0.511
	BM	3.143±0.677
Free range	Κ	2.157 ± 0.771
	L	$4.619{\pm}~0.857$
	TM	3.371 ± 1.106
Free range	L TM BM K L TM	3.953 ± 0.520 2.276 ± 0.511 3.143 ± 0.677 2.157 ± 0.771 4.619 ± 0.857 3.371 ± 1.106

Table 14 Mean aflatoxin levels (ppb) in tissues of chicken kept under two different production systems.

•Mean ± SEM (Standard error of mean), BM-Breast muscle, K-Kidney, L-Liver, TM-Thigh muscle

Among the tissues, the liver had high mean level as compared to the rest of the tissues. In Busia, Kakamega and Siaya, liver had 5.24, 2.68 and 4.67 ppb, respectively with a mean of 4.19 ppb. The breast muscle showed a mean of 3.57 ppb. More information is shown in Table 15.

	Chicken Tissues			
County	Breast muscle	Kidney	Liver	Thigh muscle
Busia	4.96±0.51 °	0.83±0.40	5.24±0.66	1.76±0.60
Kakamega	2.74 ± 0.84	1.91±0.75	2.68±0.85	3.85±1.17
Siaya	3.01±0.41	3.34±0.54	4.67±0.73	2.38±0.76
Mean	3.57±0.59	2.02±0.56	4.19±0.75	2.66±0.84

Table 15 Mean aflatoxin levels (ppb) in chicken tissues from three Counties of WesternKenya

•Mean ± SEM (standard error of mean)



a



b

Plate 7 Chicken fed on the ground (a &b) are exposed to aflatoxin contamination which in turn contaminate their products. Aflatoxins are present in the soils (Cary *et al.*, 2005) and chicken can pick them with feed on the ground (Source: Author, 2016)

Aflatoxin levels in chicken tissues from Busia County were compared. Matayos and Teso

South Sub-counties have the highest levels of aflatoxin in breast muscle and liver

respectively as shown in table 16.

Factors		Tissues		
County Level	Breast muscle	Kidney	Liver	Thigh muscle

Mean	4.96±0.51 ·	0.83 ± 0.40	5.24±0.66	1.76 ± 0.60
S d	2.30	2.15	2.94	2.67
Sub County levels				
Matayos				
Mean	6.28 ± 0.66	1.57±1.37	4.37±1.39	$2.33{\pm}1.28$
S d	1.60	3.35	3.40	3.13
Nambale				
Mean	2.75±1.15	0.95 ± 0.91	4.1±0.82	1.95 ± 1.25
S d	2.81	2.23	2.01	3.07
Teso South				
Mean	5.63±0.30	0.18 ± 0.05	6.75±1.00	1.18 ± 0.79
S d	0.86	0.15	2.83	2.23

•Mean ± SEM (standard error of mean), S d- standard deviation

Women and youth group means had no significant difference including that of age of chicken (young and adult). However, mean aflatoxin level in the kidney from women group is higher than that of youth group while AF mean of thigh muscle of young chicken is relatively high as compared to that of adult as shown in Table 17

Table 17 Mean aflatoxin levels (ppb) in chicken tissues and age of chicken (12-16 weeks and >36 weeks) among women and youth groups in Busia County

	Tissues			
	Breast muscle	Kidney	Liver	Thigh muscle
Women group Mean	5.38±0.65 •	1.3±0.78	5.62±0.82	1.6±0.69
S d	2.24	2.71	2.85	2.39
Youth group Mean	4.33±0.85	0.11±0.05	4.68±1.12	1.99±1.13

S d	2.39	0.14	3.17	3.21
Age of chicken				
Adult				
Mean	5.65 ± 2.04	0.98 ± 2.61	5.14 ± 2.91	1.33 ± 2.01
S d	0.65	0.83	0.92	0.64
Young				
Mean	4.27±0.77	0.67 ± 0.54	5.34±0.99	2.18±1.03
S d	2.44	1.70	3.13	3.26

•Mean ± SEM (standard error of mean), S d- standard deviation

Levels of aflatoxin (ppb) in chicken tissues from Kakamega County are shown in table 18. AF levels in the BM from Lugari and TM from Lurambi are high while that of Liver from Lugari and BM from Navakholo are low.

Factors		Tissues		
County level	Breast muscle	Kidney	Liver	Thigh muscle
Mean	2.74±0.84 •	1.91±0.75	2.68±0.85	3.85±1.17
S d	3.66	3.34	3.81	5.21
Sub County level				
Lugari				
Mean	4.32±1.87	2.1±1.68	1.88±1.29	4.22±1.80
S d	4.58	4.10	3.18	4.40
Lurambi				
Mean	2.75±1.34	1.23±0.77	3.08±1.52	5.37±3.22
S d	3.79	1.88	3.73	7.88
Navakholo				

Table 18 Mean aflatoxin levels (ppb) in chicken tissues in Kakamega County

Mean	0.86 ± 0.41	2.28±1.38	2.98±1.64	2.43 ± 1.18
S d	0.91	3.89	4.63	3.34

•Mean ± SEM (standard error of mean), S d- standard deviation

The results revealed that mean total aflatoxin (AFT) levels of youth group is higher than those of women groups in all tissues except for the liver which is not different. On the age of chicken, thigh muscle from the young have low mean AFT as compared to that of adult chicken as shown in table 19

Table 19 Mean aflatoxin levels (ppb)	in chicken tiss	ues among wome	en and youth	groups and
age of chicken in Kakamega County				

Tissues				
Breast muscle	Kidney	Liver	Thigh muscle	
2.02 ± 0.86	0.5 ± 0.15 *	2.78±1.11	3.66±1.13	
2.96	0.53	3.83	3.91	
4 ± 1.74	4.03±1.63	2.58 ± 1.42	4.13±2.49	
4.61	4.62	4.02	7.02	
$2.44{\pm}1.01$	$1.84{\pm}1.06$	3.11±1.31	4.99 ± 2.00	
3.04	3.35	4.13	6.34	
3.02±1.36	1.98 ± 1.11	2.25±1.14	2.90±1.23	
4.29	3.51	3.62	3.90	
	Breast muscle 2.02±0.86 2.96 4±1.74 4.61 2.44±1.01 3.04 3.02±1.36 4.29	Breast muscleKidney 2.02 ± 0.86 $0.5\pm0.15^{\circ}$ 2.96 0.53 4 ± 1.74 4.03 ± 1.63 4.61 4.62 2.44 ± 1.01 1.84 ± 1.06 3.04 3.35 3.02 ± 1.36 1.98 ± 1.11 4.29 3.51	Breast muscleKidneyLiver 2.02 ± 0.86 0.5 ± 0.15 2.78 ± 1.11 2.96 0.53 3.83 4 ± 1.74 4.03 ± 1.63 2.58 ± 1.42 4.61 4.62 4.02 2.44 ± 1.01 1.84 ± 1.06 3.11 ± 1.31 3.04 3.35 4.13 3.02 ± 1.36 1.98 ± 1.11 2.25 ± 1.14 4.29 3.51 3.62	

•Mean ± SEM (standard error of mean), Sd- standard deviation

Mean AFT of breast muscle from Gem Sub County was low while that of the thigh muscle and liver was high as compared to other sub Counties. Aflatoxin levels in thigh muscle and liver from Alego sub County and that of kidney from Ugenya Sub County were low. Gem sub County had high mean aflatoxin as compared to Alego and Ugenya sub Counties as shown in Table 20

Factors	Tissues			
County Level	Breast muscle	Kidney	Liver	Thigh muscle
Mean	3.01±0.41 ·	3.34±0.54	4.67±0.73	2.38±0.76
S d	1.77	2.34	3.19	3.33
Sub County Level				
Mean	3.73±0.43	3.0±0.58	2.921.24±	0.09±0.44
S d	1.05	1.42	3.05	1.07
Gem				
Mean	2.33 ± 0.76	4.61 ± 0.88	5.85 ± 1.06	4.61±1.45
S d	3.33	2.50	2.99	4.15
Ugenya				
Mean	3.24±1.07	$1.78{\pm}1.07$	4.90 ± 1.49	0.58 ± 0.46
S d	2.39	2.17	3.34	1.02

Table 20 Mean aflatoxin levels (ppb) in chicken tissues in Siaya County

•Mean ± SEM (standard error of mean), S d- standard deviation



Plate 8 Chicken fed together regardless of their ages as captured during the research. Exposure to aflatoxins can be similar but accumulation in tissues can differ. (Source: Author, 2016)

Women and youth groups including the age of chicken were the target in the study in Counties such as Siaya. Mean AFT level of thigh muscle among women group was lower than that of the youth while liver among youth group was high. Adult kidney had high mean AFT level as compared to the young as shown in table 21

	Tissues			
	Breast muscle	Kidney	Liver	Thigh muscle
Women group Mean	3.28±0.40 •	2.96±0.60	3.8±0.96	1.32±0.75
S d	1.33	2.00	3.17	2.50
Youth group Mean	2.64±0.81	3.90±0.99	5.88±1.06	3.85±1.38
S d	2.29	2.80	3.00	3.91
Age of chicken				
Adult				

Table 21 Mean aflatoxin levels (ppb) in chicken tissues among women and youth group and within chicken age sets in Siaya County
	Mean	3.1±0.72	4.34 ± 0.48	4.61±0.92	2.91±1.13
	S d	2.17	1.45	2.76	3.88
Young					
	Mean	2.93±0.45	2.47 ± 0.85	4.73±1.17	$1.91{\pm}1.07$
	S d	1.44	2.69	3.69	3.83

•Mean ± SEM (standard error of mean), S d- standard deviation

Women and youth were major players of indigenous chicken production in the study area, thus tissues of chicken obtained from these groups were analyzed. AFT levels in kidney and thigh muscle of women group was relatively low as compared to that of the youth as shown in figure 10



Figure 9 Mean aflatoxin level (ppb) of chicken tissues from women and youth groups across the three counties

CHAPTER FIVE

DISCUSSION

5.1: Indigenous chicken production

The breed of chicken kept in Western Kenya comprised of; Indigenous (79.01%), improved indigenous (17.51%), crosses (1.86%) and others (exotic chicken, ducks, turkeys and quails) (1.62%). This showed that indigenous chicken were popular in this region and regular improvement has been done by use of genetically improved cocks from KALRO Kakamega and Naivasha. Crosses were not common; these are chicken which have been crossed with other common types of chicken like the naked neck. Other breeds especially exotic breeds like brown leghorns were less popular because they prefer intensive system of production and therefore costly to keep. Indigenous chicken are kept under three major production systems; free range, semi free range and intensive systems. Free range was more popular in Kakamega (60%) and Busia (58.3%) as compared to Siaya where Semi free range system (69.5%) was the most popular. Intensive system was not popular with indigenous chicken production although some farmers (5%) practiced it in Kakamega County. This was similar to Sanka and Mbaga (2014) who reported that local chickens were reared under different production systems, mainly scavenging, semiintensive system and to a lesser extent intensive systems. This could be due to closer attention and feeding required according to the respondents who stated that free range is easy to manage. This is also in agreement with Alders et al (2009); Abdelqader (2007); Abubakar et al. (2007) who reported that backyard poultry require low inputs /investment to start and maintain as compared to commercial poultry.

Production of indigenous chicken was categorized in terms of years of practice or duration of keeping chicken. It was revealed that most farmers had engaged in indigenous chicken production for less than 5yrs; intensive (75%), semi free range (58%) and Free range (38.6%). This means that intensive system is less popular since it had only been practiced for less than 5 years as compared to free range and semi free range which had been practiced in the last 15 years. This also shows that semi free range is now gaining popularity among indigenous chicken farmers.

This study also revealed that indigenous chicken were kept for various reasons such as; economic (36.7%) where farmers sell live chicken and eggs for school requirements and other domestic chores like food, clothes and utensils. For health reasons (31.13%), respondents claimed that white meat of indigenous chicken, is safer in terms of cancer and allergies. Respondents also indicated that they kept chicken for nutritional reasons (21.7%) and claimed that meat and eggs of indigenous chickens are tastier and nutrient rich compared to those of exotic breeds hence fetched a better price in the market. This is in agreement with the findings of Paresh *et al* (2016). The present study is not in agreement with the findings of. Tarwireyi and Fanadzo, (2013) on their part reported that live indigenous chickens could not compete with the commercial breeds in the market because they are regarded as of poor quality in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa.

These chicken were also kept for cultural purposes (4.4%); as tokens for visitors, family members and during ceremonies especially in Busia. The study also revealed that age of respondent influenced the type of production system to engage in. Free range was common among 20-40 year old age category (55.7%) while intensive system was common among 41-60 year old age category (66.7%). Semi free range was common

among the 20-40 and 41-60 year old categories at the rate of 45.1% and 42.3% respectively. This can be attributed to the fact that people are realizing the important role of chicken to curb unemployment among the rural poor especially after they leave school or retirement.

Education level of respondents was also shown to influence the production system they practiced. Those with tertiary level of education preferred semi free range (53.33%) as compared to free range (46.67%) while those with informal education preferred free range system (75%).

5.2: Nutritive value of chicken feeds

Indigenous chicken production involved the use of various types of feeds ranging from whole grains to compounded ones that included chick mash, layer mash, grower mash and kienyeji mash. Most farmers fed their chicken on locally available feeds including kitchen waste. Feed quality is an integral part of chicken performance; therefore it is important to know their nutrient composition through laboratory analysis so as to determine daily nutrient intake.

Maize from Siaya County has higher percentage of crude protein as compared to those from Busia and Kakamega Counties. Sorghum from Kakamega was high in ash content as compared to those from Busia and Siaya Counties. Maize was basically lower in CP% and ASH% as compared to sorghum. Cassava had the lowest crude protein content (2.4%) therefore chicken fed largely on cassava diets are likely to run into hypo-protein related conditions like poor growth rate. Groundnuts (peanuts) had the highest mean level of crude protein at 20% as compared to feedstuffs like sorghum, maize and cassava. Thus mixing cassava and groundnuts, according to the birds' daily demand, can take care of

hypo-protein related problems of cassava. Okitoi (2009) reported that locally available feedstuffs, if properly formulated, can provide 21.2% CP which was the best performing level in terms of growth and productivity of indigenous chicken in Western Kenya.

Sorghum had high CP of 10% as compared to maize's 8% which was similar to the findings of Abdo *et al* (2015). Sorghum or maize can substitute each other as part of ingredients in chicken feeds but sorghum is known to contain high levels of tannins (Tahirou *et al.*, 2006) which are an anti-nutritional factor that suppress feed intake. Home-made rations from different study areas had different levels of CP like Busia 10.3%, Kakamega 17.21% and Siaya 7.1%. This was largely affected by the type of ingredients locally available and the amount incorporated in the feed. Maize was the most popular ingredient of the homemade rations due to its availability.

Ash% was high in commercial feeds at 18.3% as compared to 13.0% in HMR. This was attributed to use of ingredients targeted to certain type or group of chicken, for example layers, by millers. Among the commercial feeds, layers mash was high in CP at 12.73% and ASH at 27.45%. These feeds were formulated to suit the daily demand of the type of chicken.

However, scanty information is available on nutritional requirements of native chickens or strains for sustainable low input rural poultry production (Raju *et al* 2004; Mandal *et al.*, 2005 and Okitoi *et al.*, 2006). The information required was largely depending on the purpose of the chicken kept; like for breeding, egg or meat production and age of chicken.

5.3: Aflatoxin residues in chicken products

Aflatoxins in feed consumed by chicken have been shown to pass to eggs and tissues causing contamination of products as expected (Gareis *et al.*, 2000). Tissues and eggs of

indigenous chicken contained aflatoxin residues with the latter showing only trace amounts. This could be attributed to the fact that cytochrome P450 enzymes are responsible for detoxification of AFB1 by formation of AFBO in the liver (Tulayakul et al., 2005) in chicken. This could suggest why eggs contained only traces of aflatoxins and that eggs take only 24 hours to be laid; while tissues act as deposition (muscles especially the breast muscle) and detoxification sites (liver and kidney) of these toxins. Method of handling chicken (production system) influenced the levels of aflatoxins in different tissues. Liver from chicken kept under free range system was higher (4.619 ± 0.857) than those kept under semi free range (3.953 ± 0.520) ; this could be due to exposure of chicken to aflatoxins while in the field (free ranging). Chicken consume contaminated waste grains, vegetation, soils, wild seeds, among others, in the field since it is hard to control what they consume. Free scavenging chicken are not supplemented or if any it is minimal, therefore they will consume more in the field. Under semi free range, chicken feeding is controlled because they are fed in the morning and released for a few hours to free range hence less exposed to aflatoxicosis. Among the tissues the liver had the highest mean aflatoxin level across the Counties. These results are in agreement with Darwish et al (2016) who analyzed chicken tissues for total aflatoxin in Egypt and found that liver had higher total aflatoxin level compared to other parts of chicken. Research has shown that liver is the target organ of aflatoxin as the site of detoxication thus residues are more often found here (Braese et al., 2007). AFT levels in the thigh muscles were different between the two production systems; semi free range (2.276 ± 0.511) and free range (3.371 ± 1.106) . This muscle is known to be one of the deposition sites of aflatoxins, therefore those under free range move a lot causing high nutrient and or other substance

supply in the muscle. Aflatoxins are also supplied to the tissues and get deposited there after biotransformation in the liver (Bbosa *et al.*, 2013). The presence of aflatoxins in chicken tissues regardless of production system is an indication of aflatoxin status of chicken feeds, which shows that the feeds are contaminated with aflatoxins from the farm level. Since these feed ingredients were also human food, there was a tendency of feeding chicken with wasted/rotten grains and the clean ones reserved as human food.

Although there is no safe level (El-Yazeed *et al.*, 2015), WHO/FAO have set permitted amounts of 20ppb and KEBS of 10ppb so as to control exposure to higher levels which can be significant to public health. Continuous consumption of aflatoxins in small quantities for a long time (chronic aflatoxicosis) causes cancer especially that of the liver, while those taken in large quantities within a short time (acute aflatoxicosis) cause death. According to findings by Cornell University (2015), 10% of aflatoxins consumed were eliminated from the body and 90% were retained. Thus, long time exposure to aflatoxins is significantly important to public health. This is in agreement with reports by Hussain *et al.* (2010) who found that aflatoxin in flesh/meat of broilers is of significance in public health especially after accumulation of toxins in the tissues. AFT level in different ages of chicken was not different, which could be because these chickens consume the same types of feed materials. As indicated by respondents, chicken were fed together regardless of age (Plate 8), therefore exposure to aflatoxins is relatively similar unlike the exotic ones which are fed according to ages with differently formulated rations.

Busia County showed the highest AF levels in liver and breast muscle while Siaya County had the highest level in kidney; Kakamega County indicated higher level in thigh muscle. These variations could be due to type of feed (levels of contamination, ground or intact grain, insect infested or not) where insect infested and ground grains are more susceptible to aflatoxin contamination than intact or uninfested feeds. Aflatoxins have been shown to get deposited in the adipose tissues; therefore, parts with fat seem to show high level of aflatoxin during analysis (Saqer, 2013).

CHAPTER SIX

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 Conclusions

 i) This study has revealed that different production systems and improvement programs are practiced in poultry farms in Western Kenya region and locally available feed materials are used. Most chicken producers practiced free range system of production.

ii) Nutritive value of indigenous chicken feed is not known to the farmers leading to poor formulation of the homemade rations.

iii) Chicken tissues and eggs had aflatoxin residues; the liver and breast muscle had the highest levels at 4.19ppb and 3.57ppb respectively while eggs had traces.

6.2 Recommendations

i) The levels of aflatoxin contamination of chicken products especially meat and organs, as reported in this study, should be a wakeup call for stringent monitoring of aflatoxins residues in eggs and meat so as to prevent their effects in humans.

ii) There is need to commercialize indigenous poultry production and encourage cottage factories to compound the feeds at village level so as to improve feed quality.

iii) Frequent farmer education programs should be organized at farm level so as to increase knowledge on prevention measures and minimize aflatoxin contamination of chicken products.

iv) More research should be emphasized towards determining aflatoxin levels in chicken products from chicken kept under intensive system in comparison with those under free range system; breed comparisons can also be done

REFERENCES

- Abdelqader A, Wollny CBA and Gauly M. (2007): Characterization of Local Chicken Production System and Potential Under Different Level of Management Practice in Jordan. *Journal of Tropical Animal Health and Production* 39:55– 164.
- Abdo M, Urge M and Gebeyew K (2015): Effects of Replacing Maize with Sorghum on Growth and Feed Efficiency of Commercial Broiler Chicken. Journal of Veterinary Science & Technology 6:224. doi:10.4172/2157-7579.1000224
- Abubakar MB, Ambali AG and Tamjdo T. (2007): Rural chicken production: Effects of gender on ownership, and management responsibilities in some parts of Nigeria and Cameroon. *International Journal of Poultry Science* 6(6):413– 416.
- Addisu, H., Hailu, M and Zewdu, W (2013): Indigenous Chicken Production System and Breeding Practice in North Wollo, Amhara Region, Ethiopia. (*Poult Fish Wildl Sci 1:108. doi:10.4172/2375-446X.1000108*)
- Ahlers, C., Alders, R.G., Bagnol, B., Cambaza, A.B., Harun, M., Mgomezulu, R., Msami, H., Pym, B., Wegener, P., Wethli, E. & Young, M. (2009). *Improving Village Chicken Production*: A Manual for Field Workers and Trainers. ACIAR Monograph, No. 139 (available at <u>http://aciar.gov.au/publication/MN139</u>)
- Akande, K.E., Abubakar, M.M., Adegbola, T.A. and. Bogoro, S.E (2006): Nutritional and Health Implications of Mycotoxins in Animal Feeds: A Review; *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition 5 (5): 398-403, 2006 ISSN 1680-5194.*
- Alders, R., Bagnol, B., Chicamisse, M., Serafim, J. and Langa, J. (2009) Proceedings of International Conference held in Dares Salaam, Tanzania, 5-7 October, 2005. ACIAR Proceedings No. 131: 207.
- Alders, R. (2004): *Poultry for Profit and Pleasure;* FAO Diversification Booklet No. 3. Rome.

- Alexander, D.J., Bell, J.G. & Alders, R.G. (2004) Technology Review: Newcastle Disease with Special Emphasis on Its Effect on Village Chickens. FAO Animal Production and Health Paper, No. 161. Rome, FAO (available at <u>www.fao.org/docrep/006/y5162e/y5162e00.htm</u>, 2017).
- Allen, N.K., Michora, C.J., Weaver, G., Aakhus-Allen, S., and Bates, F. (1981). Effects of Dietary Zearalenone on Finishing Broiler Chickens and Young Turkey Poults. *Poultry Science*, 62: 124-131.
- Ambre, P., Kumar, S and Desai B. G (2016): Production Performance of Indigenous Chicken (Gallus domesticus L.) under Backyard Condition in Sindhudurg District of Maharashtra 1SMS, Krishi Vigyan Kendra, Kirlos – 416616, Distt. Sindhudurg, Maharashtra, INDIA
- Andretta, I., Kipper, M., Lehnen, C. R., & Lovatto, P. A. (2011). Meta-analysis of the

Relationship of Mycotoxins with Biochemical And Hematological Parameters in Broilers. *Poultry Science*, 91(2), 376-82

- Antonissen, G., Martel, A., Pasmans, F., Ducatelle, R., Verbrugghe, E., Vandenbroucke, V., Li, S., <u>Haesebrouck</u>, F., <u>Van Immerseel</u>., F., and <u>Croubels</u>, S (2016): The Impact of Fusarium Mycotoxins on Human and Animal Host Susceptibility to Infectious Diseases (<u>http://en.egormix.com/mbr-1413961</u>, 2017)
- AOAC, (2000): Official Methods of Analysis of AOAC International Gaithersburg, M. d: AOAC International
- Apuno, A.A. Mbap, S.T. and Ibrahim T (2011): Characterization of Local Chickens (Gallus gallus domesticus) in Shelleng and Song Local Government Areas of Adamawa State, Nigeria
- Astoreca, A.L., Dalcero, A.M., Fernandez Pinto, V.Vaamonde, G., 2011. A survey on distribution and toxigenicity of Aspergillus section Flavi in poultry feeds. *Internationa. Journal of Food Microbiology*. 146, 38–43.

- Bacon, C.W. Nelson, P.E. (1994) Fumonisin Production in Corn by Toxigenic Strains of Fusarium Moniliforme and Fusarium Proliferatum (<u>http://agris.fao.org/agris-</u> <u>search/search.do?recordID=US9503685</u>, 2018)
- Bbosa, G. S., Kitya, D., Odda, J., Ogwal-Okeng, J., (2013): Aflatoxins Metabolism, Effects on Epigenetic Mechanisms and Their Role in Carcinogenesis. *Health* Vol.5, No.10A, 14-34 (<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/health.2013.510A1003</u>, 2017)
- Bennett J.W, Klich, M.(2003): Mycotoxins. Clinical Microbiology. Rev. 2003 Jul;16 (3):497-516. (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12857779, 2018)
- Bintvihok, A., S. Thiengnin, K. Doi and. Kumagai S, (2002): Residues of aflatoxins in the liver, muscle and eggs of domestic fowls. J. Vet. Med. Sci., 64: 1037- 1039. DOI: 10.1292/jvms.64.1037
- Birech E K (2002) Feed and Nutrient Intake of Free-ranging Chickens in Nakuru District Kenya. MSc. Thesis, Egerton University, Njoro, Kenya
- Biomin, 2017: Mycotoxins in poultry (https://www.biomin.net/en/species/poultry/mycotoxins/)
- Blood O. D. C and V.P Studdert (1999): Saunders, Comprehensive Veterinary Dictionary, 2nd Edition. Harcourt publishers Limited 1999
- Bogale K (2008): In-Situ Characterization of Local Chicken Eco-Type for Functional Traits And Production System in Fogera District, Amhara Regional State Msc Thesis, Department of Animal Science, School of Graduate Studies, Haramaya University, Haramaya, Ethiopia.
- Braese,S., Encinas, A., Keck, J and Nising, F C.(2007). Chemistry and Biology of Mycotoxins Coulombe A R 1993 Symposium : Biological Action of Mycotoxins. *Journal of Dairy Science*, Volume 76, pages 880-891.
- Bullerman, B. L., and Blanchini, A. (2011): The Microbiology of Cereals and cereal products-Food Quality and Safety

- Bushra B (2012) The Status of Indigenous Village Chicken Production and Marketing System in Ethiopia; Addis Ababa University. (<u>http://en.engormix.com/MA-poultry-industry/meat-industry/articles/the-status-indigenous-village-t2392/471-p0.htm, 2017)</u>
- Cardwell, K.F. (2001) Mycotoxin Contamination of Foods in Africa: Anti-Nutritional Factors. Food Nutr. Bull. 2001, 21, 488–492. [Google Scholar] [CrossRef]
- Cary, J.W., Klich, M.A., and Beltz, S.B. (2005). Characterization of aflatoxin-producing fungi outside of Aspergillus section Flavi. *Mycologia* 97(2):425-432.
- Celik, I., Oguz, H., Demet, O., Donmez, H. H., Boydak, M. & Sur, E. (2000): "Efficacy of polyvinylpolypyrrolidone in reducing the immunotoxicity of aflatoxin in growing broilers." *British Poultry Science*, 41, 430-439.
- Chen, X., Grenier, B. and Applegate, T. J (2013): Aflatoxins in Poultry; *Purdue* University Department of Animal Sciences (www.ag.purdue.edu/ANSC, 2017).
- Cornell University, College of Agriculture and live Sciences, *Department of Animal Science* (2015); Afflatoxin: Occurrence and Health Risks. (<u>http://www.poisonousplants.ansci.cornell.edu/toxicagents/aflatoxin/aflatoxin.</u> <u>html</u>, 2016).
- Cortyl, M.,(2008): Mycotoxins in Animal Nutrition-Problems and Solutions. (<u>http://www.aquafeed.com/docs/fiaap2008/Cortyl.pdf</u>, 2016)
- Cotty, P.J. and Jaime-Garcia, R. (2007): Influences of Climate on Aflatoxin Producing Fungi and Aflatoxin Contamination. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 119,109-115. *https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro*.2007.07.060
- Dana N, Dessiea T, van der Waaija L H and van Arendon J A M (2010): Morphological Features of Indigenous Chicken Populations of Ethiopia. Animal Genetic Resources Information, 46: 11-23.

- Danicke S. (2002): Prevention and control of mycotoxins in the poultry production chain: A European view. *World Poultry Science Journal* 2002; 58:451-474.
- Darwish, W. S., Ikenaka, Y., Nakayama, S. and Ishizuka, M. (2014). An Overview on Mycotoxin Contamination of Food: African Scenario. J. Vet.Med. Sci., 76: 789-797.
- Darwish, W.S., El Bayomi, R.M., Amany M., Abd El-Moaty and Gad, T.M (2016): Mould Contamination and Aflatoxin Residues in Frozen Chicken Meat-cuts and Giblets. *Japanese Journal of Veterinary Research* 64(Supplement 2): S167-171, 2016
- Devreese, M., De Backer, P., Croubels, S (2013): Overview of the Most Important Mycotoxins for the Pig and Poultry Husbandry; *Impact of mycotoxins on animal health 171*.
- Devegowda, G., Murthy, T.K.N., Girish, C.K. and Gowda, M.R.M.C. (2005).
 Mycotoxins in feed and feed ingredients: A survey in India. In: Nutritional Biotechnology in the Feed and Food Industries, *Proceedings of the 21st Annual Symposium* (Suppl. 1: Abstracts of posters presented). Lexington, Ky, May 22-25
- Dhanasekaran, D., Shanmugapriya, S., Thajuddin, N. and Panneerselvam, A. (2011):
 Aflatoxins and Aflatoxicosis in Human and Animals. In: Guevara
 Gonzalez, R.G., Ed., Aflatoxins—Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, InTech, 221- 254.
- Dolberg, F. (2008): Poultry Production for Livelihood Improvement and Poverty Alleviation: In O. Thieme and D. Pilling, eds. Poultry in the 21st Century: Avian influenza and beyond. Proceedings of the International Poultry Conference, held 5–7 November 2007, Bangkok, FAO Animal Production and Health,Proceedings,No.9(availableatwww.fao.org/AG/againfo/home/events/ba ngkok2007 /en/background_3.html)

- Dohlman, E. (2004): Mycotoxin Hazards and Regulations; Impacts on Food and Animal Feed Crop Trade, International Trade and Food Safety; *Economic Research Service/USDA* Chapter 6, Pg 100-104
- Dorji, Nedup et al. "Genetic characterization of Bhutanese native chickens based on an analysis of Red Junglefowl (Gallus gallus gallus and Gallus gallus spadecieus), domestic Southeast Asian and commercial chicken lines (Gallus gallus domesticus)." *Genetics and molecular biology* vol. 35,3 (2012): 603-9. doi:10.1590/S1415-47572012005000039
- Durali, T., (2014): Common Mycotoxins, Their Interactions and Effects on Poultry *Production. International Poultry Production*, Volume 22 No 4 pp 15-17.
- El-Yazeed, H. A., Hanafy, H. M., Soliman, R. and Refai, M. (2015).Trials for Reducing Aflatoxin B1 Residues in Chicken Meat and Eggs using a Newly Developed Aflatoxin B1 Vaccine. *International Journal of Research Studies in Biosciences* (IJRSB) Volume 3, Issue 11, November 2015, PP 6-14 ISSN 2349-0357 (Print) & ISSN 2349-0365 (www.arcjournals.org, 2016).
- Eva G. L-P, Ernesto M-M and Susana P. M-C (2011): Aflatoxins and Their Impact on Human and Animal Health: An Emerging Problem, Aflatoxins - Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Dr. Ramon G. Guevara-Gonzalez (Ed.), ISBN: 978-953-307-395-8, InTech, Available from: <u>http://www.intechopen.com/books/aflatoxins-biochemistry-and-molecular</u> biology/aflatoxins-and-their-impacton-human-and-animal-health-an-emergingproblem
- FAO (2014): Family Poultry Development Issues, Opportunities and Constraints. Animal Production and Health Working Paper No. 12. Rome.
- FAO (2012). Mycotoxins. Available at: http://www.fao.org/food/foodsafety- quality/foodsafetyquality/ topical-issues/mycotoxins/en / [Accessed 27 Feb 2012]

- FAO (2008b): Biosecurity for Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza. FAO Animal Production and Health paper, No. 165. Rome, FAO (available at <u>ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/011/i0359e/i0359e00.pdf</u>, 2016).
- FAO (2004): Small Scale Poultry Production, Food and Agriculture Organization, Animal Production and Health, Village Poultry Consultant. Waimana New Zealand pp. 1-5.
- FAO/WHO (2001): Joint Committee on Food Additives. Safety Evaluation of certain Mycotoxins in Food: WHO, 2001
- Farombi, E.O., 2006. Aflatoxin contamination of foods in developing countries: Implications for hepatocellular carcinoma and chemopreventive strategies. *African Journal of Biotechnology.*, 5: 1-14.
- Fisseha M (2009). Studies on Production and Marketing System of Local Chicken Ecotypes in Burewereda, North West Amhara M.Sc. Thesis, Hawassa University, Hawassa, Ethiopia.
- Fisseha M, Azage T and Tadelle D (2010). Indigenous Chicken Production and Marketing Systems in Ethiopia: Characteristics and Opportunities for Market-Oriented Development. *Working Paper* No. 24
- Gabal, M.A., Azzam, A.H. (1998): Interaction of Aflatoxin in the Feed and Immunization Against Selected Infectious Diseases in Poultry. II. Effect on One-Day-Old Layer Chicks Simultaneously Vaccinated Against Newcastle Disease, Infectious Bronchitis And Infectious Bursal Disease. Avian Pathology 27:3:290–295.
- Gareis, M and Wolff, J (2000): Relevance of Mycotoxin Contaminated Feed for Farm Animals and Carryover of Mycotoxins to Food of Animal Origin.
- GoK, (2016): Report on poultry sector in Kenya. Oct, 2016 (zootecnicainternational.com/.../poultry-sector-kenya)

- Gondwe TNP. (2004). Characterization of Local Chicken in Low Input–Low Output Production Systems: Is There Scope for Appropriate Production and Breeding Strategies in Malawi? *PhD thesis; Georg-August-Universitat Gottingen,* Germany. 184 pp.
- Grace, D., Kang'ethe, E., Lindahl, J., Atherstone, C., Nelson, F. and Wesonga, T. (2015): Aflatoxin: Impact on Animal Health and Productivity; *Situational Analysis East Africa Region*, 2015.
- Guèye, E. F.(2000): Women and family poultry production in Africa. Development in *Practice* 10: 98–102.
- Gulyas, N. (2013): Mycotoxin contamination in food and feedstuffs (<u>http://www.huveta.hu/handle/10832/877</u>, 2018)
- Hall, A.J. and Wild C.P. (2003): Liver Cancer in Low and Middle Income Countries. *British Medical Journal.*, 326: 994- 995. DOI: 10.1136/bmj.326.7397.994
- Han, X.Y., Q.C. Huang, W.F. Li. and Z.R. Xu (2008): Changes in Growth Performance,
 Digestive Enzyme Activities and Nutrient Digestibility of Cherry Valley
 Ducks in Response to Aflatoxin B₁ Levels. *Livestock Science.*, 119: 216–220.
- Hassen H (2007): Phenotypic and Genetic Characterization of Indigenous Chicken
 Populations in Northwest Ethiopia, PhD Thesis. National and Agricultural
 Sciences, Department of Animal Wild Life and Grassland Sciences, University
 of the Free State, Bloemfontein, South Africa
- Heidtmann-Bemvenuti R., Mendes G. L., Scaglioni P. T., Badiale-Furlong E. and Souza-Soares L. A (2011): Biochemistry and Metabolism of Mycotoxins: A review. *African Journal of Food Science Vol.* 5(16), pp. 861-869, 2011 <u>http://www.academicjournals.org/AJFS</u> DOI: 10.5897/AJFSX11.009
- Hussain, Z.; Khan, M.Z.; Khan, A.; Javed, I.; Saleemi, M.K.; Mahmood, S.; Asi, M.R.
 (2010) Residues of Aflatoxin B1 in Broiler Meat: Effect of Age and Dietary Aflatoxin B1 Levels. *Food Chemistry and Toxicology* 2010, 48, 3304–3307

- IARC (International Agency for Research on Cancer), (2002): Aflatoxins. In: Monograph on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. Volume 82. Some Traditional Herbal Medicines, Some Mycotoxins, Naphthalene and Styrene, IARC, Lyon, France, Pp. 171-300.
- Iheshiulor,O.O.,B.O Esonu., O .K Chuwuka., A.A Omede., I.C Okoli ., and I.P Ogbeuvu.(2011).Effects of Mycotoxins in Animal Nutrition: A Review, Asian Journal for Animal Sciences,5(1); 19-33, 2011.
- Internet (<u>http://www.mycotoxins.info/myco-info/ani</u>) (2015): Poultry Mycotoxins in General.(Supported by BIOMIN^R).
- Internet (http://latitude.to/articles-bycounty/ke/Kenya/41241/Busia-County) (2018): Busia County, Kenya, map with GPS coordinates
- Internet (*http//latitude.to/articles-by-county/ke/Kenya/40817/Kakamega-county*) (2018): Kakamega County, map with GPS coordinates
- Internet (http://latitude.to/articles-by-county/ke/Kenya/39121/Siaya- County) (2018): Siaya County map with GPS coordinates
- Kabuage, L W (2010) Indigenous Poultry Production: Current Status, Challenges Opportunities and Future Trends in a Changing Environment. Proceedings of the 7th Biennial Scientific Conference September 8th To 10th 2010
- Kang'ethe, E.K. & Lang'a, K.A. (2009): Aflatoxin B₁ and M₁ Contamination of Animal Feeds and Milk from Urban Centers in Kenya. *African Health Science*, 9: (4) 218-226.
- Kajuna, F. F., Temba, B. A and Mosha R.D (2013): Surveillance of Aflatoxin B₁ Contamination in Chicken Feeds in Morogoro, Tanzania. *Livestock Research* for Rural Development 25 (3) 2013

- KARI (Kenya Agricultural Research Institution), (2014): KARI Develops a New ChickenBreed in Kenya; *Foundation for Young Farmers*, KARI Document (Uncategorized)
- Khobondo, J O., Muasya, T K., Miyumo, S., Okeno, T O., Wasike, C B., Mwakubambanya, R., Kingori, A M and Kahi, A K (2015): Genetic and Nutrition Development of Indigenous Chicken in Africa
- Kingori, A. M., Wachira, A M and Tuitoek, J. K (2010): Indigenous Chicken Production in Kenya: A Review; *International Journal of Poultry Science*. 9 (4): 309-316
- Kingori, A.M., Tuitoek, J.K., Muiruri, H.K., Wachira. A.M. and Birech, E.K. (2007): Protein Intake of Growing Indigenous Chickens on Free-range and Their Response to Supplementation. *International Journal of Poultry Science*, 6(9):617-621.
- KNBS, (2009) Sectoral Statistics. *Kenya National Bureau of Statistics*, Nairobi, Kenya: http://www.knbs.or.ke [accessed 27 Sep. 2009]. <u>Google Scholar</u>
- Kogunza, D. R., Kyarisiina, C. C and Lisa, A, (2008): Indigenous Chicken Flocks in Eastern Uganda: I. Productivity, Management and strategies for Better Performance.
- Kyarisiima C C, Kugonza D R and Twesigye C K (2004): The Potential Role of Ugandan Indigenous Chicken in Poverty Alleviation. *The Uganda Journal* 50: 85–90.
- Lawlor, P.G. and Lynch, P.B., (2005). Mycotoxin Management: African Farming and Food Processing. 46:12-13 (January/February, issue).
- Lazicka, K. and Orzechowski, S (2010): The Characteristics of the Chosen Mycotoxins and Their Toxic Influence on the Human and Animal Metabolism; *Natural Science Vol.2, No.6, 544-550 (2010)* (<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ns.2010</u>)

- Mailu S.K., Wacharia .A.M., Munyasi J.W., Kaguti P., Kithome J., Nzoika M., Mwangi D.M. (2012). The Influence of Prices on Market Participation Decisions of Poultry Farmers in Four Districts of Eastern Province Kenya. *Journal of Agriculture and Social Research* (JASR) Vol.12, NO .1
- Mallmann, C. A., Dilkin, P., Mallmann, A.O., Marchioro, A. (2011): Mycotoxins Problems in Poultry (<u>http://en.engormix.com/MA-mycotoxins/articles/mycotoxins-in-poultry</u>, 2016).
- Mandal A.B, Elangovan A.V, Tyagi P.K (2005). Poultry Nutrition for Economic Egg and Meat Production: A review. *Indian Journal of Animal Science*. 2005;75 (10):1215–1226.
- Mangesha, M and W, Tsega. (2011): Phenotypic and genotypic characteristics of indigenous chickens in Ethiopia: A review. African Journal for Agricultural Research (AJAR), 6(24):5398-5404
- Marin S., Ramos A.J., Cano-Sancho G., Sanchis V., (2013): Mycotoxins: Occurrence, Toxicology and Exposure Assessment. Food and Chemical Toxicology (60) 218-237
- McIntire, J. M., (2014): Transforming African Agriculture: The Global Journal of Emerging Market Economies, Research Article (<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0974910114525697</u>)
- Melissa S. M., Roger A. C and Reed, K. M (2015): Aflatoxicosis: Lessons from Toxicity and Responses to Aflatoxin B1 in Poultry (<u>www.mdpi.com/journal/agriculture</u>, 2016).
- Miller, J. D. (2008) Mycotoxins in Small Grains and Maize: Old Problems, New Challenges, Food Additives and Contaminants, 25:2, 219-230, DOI:10.1080/02652030701744520
- Mlozi M R S, Kakengi A V M, Minga U M, Mtambo A M and Olsen J E (2003): Marketing of Free Range Indigenous Chicken in Morogoro and Kilosa Urban

Markets, Tanzania. Livestock Research for Rural Development; Volume 15,Article#2RetrievedAugust27,2010,fromhttp://www.lrrd.org/lrrd15/2/mloz152.htm

Mukherjee, S. (2015) USAID/East Africa PowerPoint presentation-4 Aflatoxin USAID.pdf: Aflatoxin Effect on Health (<u>www.fao.org/..../ECAfrica</u> <u>caad/4 Aflatoxin USAID.pdf</u>, 2018):

Munyasi, J.W. Nzioka, M., Kibiru, S.K., Wachira A., Mwangi D., Kaguthi, P., Kithome J. & Muthiani, N. E (2009): Existing and Potential Market Opportunities for Indigenous Chicken in Greater Machakos Districts. *APSK Conference, Kisumu April 21-22.*

- Mupeta, B., Wood, J., Mandonga, F and Mhlanga, J. (2015): A Comparison of the Performance of Village Chickens, Under Improved Feed Management, With the Performance of Hybrid Chickens in Tropical Zimbabwe (https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/57a08ce3ed915d3cfd0016b4/R7524b. pdf)
- Murphy, P. A., Hendrich, S., Bryant, C.M (2006): Food Mycotoxins An Update. Journal of Food Science, 71(5):51-65.
- Murugesan, G.R., Ledoux, D.R., Naehrer, K., Berthiller, F., Applegate, T.J., Grenier, B., Phillips, T.D and Schatzmayr, G. (2015): Prevalence and Effects of Mycotoxins on Poultry Health and Performance and Recent Development in Mycotoxin Counteracting Strategies; Journal of Applied Poultry Research (<u>http://ps.oxfordjournals.org/search</u>?, 2017)

 Mutua, B.M (2011) Challenges Facing Indigenous Chicken Production and Adoption Levels of Biosecurity Measures in Selected Areas of Makueni County, Kenya;
 A Masters Thesis, South East Kenya University (<u>http://repository.seku.ac.ke/bitstream/handle/123456789/4126/</u>, 2018)

- Nakkazi C, Kayitesi A, Mulindwa H E, Kugonza D R and Okot M W (2014): The status of local chicken (*Gallus domesticus*) production in Northern Uganda. *Livestock Research for Rural Development. Volume 26, Article #198.*Retrieved September 20, 2019, from http://www.lrrd.org/lrrd26/11/nakk26198.html
- Nemati, Z., Janmohammadi, H., Taghizadeh, A., Maleki, N., Mogaddam, G., and Arzanlou, M.(2014).Occurrence of Aflatoxin in Poultry Feeds and Feed Ingredient from Northwestern Iran. *European Journal of Zoological Research*, 56-60.
- Nhleko, M. J., Slippers, S.C., Lubout, P.C. and Nsahlai, I.V. (2003): Characterization of the Traditional Poultry Production in the Rural Agricultural System of Kwazulu-Natal. Paper presented at the 1st National Workshop on Indigenous Poultry Development, Nature and Development Group of Africa (NGO Registration pp. 026-851-NPO)
- Njenga S M (2005): Productivity and socio-cultural aspects of local poultry phenotypes in Coastal Kenya. *M.Sc. Dessertation the Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University (RVAU)*, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Nutriad, (2015): Effect of Mycotoxins on Egg Quality (<u>https://nutriad.com/2015/01/effect-of-mycotoxins-on-egg-quality/</u>, 2018).
- Nyanja B N (2016): A Thesis on Assessment of Factors Influencing Indigenous Chicken Value Chain Marketing Efficiency Among Small Scale Farmers of Baringo County, Kenya: Case of Mogotio Subcounty
- Ochieng, J., George, O and Bebe, B.O (2013): Management Practices and Challenges in Smallholder Indigenous Chicken Production in Western Kenya
- Oguz H. & Kutoglu V. (2000) Effect of Clinoptilolite on Fattening Performance of Broiler Chickens During Experimental Aflatoxicosis, *British Poultry Science*, 41:512-517.

- Okeno T O, Kahi A K and Peters J K (2012): Characterization of Indigenous Chicken Production Systems in Kenya; Tropical Animal Health and Production. 44:601-608.
- Okitoi L O., Kabuage L W., R W Muinga R W and Badamana M S (2009): The Performance Response of Scavenging Chickens to Nutrient Intake from Scavengeable Resources and from Supplementation with Energy and Protein; Livestock Research for Rural Development 21 (10) 2009
- Okitoi LO, Udo H M J, Mukisira E A, De Jong R and Kwakkel R P (2006): Evaluation of low – Input Interventions for Improved Productivity of Indigenous Chickens in Western Kenya. Agricutura Tropica et Subtropica 39: 178-181 (<u>http://www.agriculturaits.czu.cz/pdf_files/vol_39_3_pdf/6_Okitoi.pdf</u>, 2017)
- Oliveira, C. A., Kobashiqawa, E., Reis, T. A., Mestieri, L., Albuquerque, R., Correa, B. (2000). "Aflatoxin B1 residues in eggs of laying hens fed a diet containing different levels of the mycotoxin." *Food Additives and Contaminants* 17:459-62.
- Omiti, J. (2011): Poultry Farming Hits a Wall in Kenya Retrieved from (http://www.poultrypro.com/africa/poultry, 2017)
- Osweiler, G.D (2014). A Review on Mycotoxicoses Aflatoxicosis: *The Merck Veterinary Manual* (<u>http://www.merckvetmanual.com/mvm/n</u>, 2016).
- Paresh Ambre1, Shalu Kumar and B.G. Desai3, (2016) Production Performance of Indigenous Chicken (*Gallus domesticus* L.) under Backyard Condition in Sindhudurg District of Maharashtra
- Paterson, R. R. M. and Lima, N. (2010): How Will Climate Change Affect Mycotoxins in Food? Food Research International. 43(7):1902–1914
- Prairie View A & M University (Cooperative Extension Program) (2012): Agriculture and Natural Resources; In: The Effects of Mycotoxins.

- Radmila, M. R., Nesic, D.K., Nesic, D. V.,Palic , D. T and Jacevic, M. V.(2009). Mycotoxins in Poultry Production; (*http://www.doiserbia.nb.rs/img/doi/0352-4906/2009/0352-49060916007R.pdf*)
- Radostits, O.M.; Gay, C.C. Blood, D.C. & Hinchcliff, K.W. (2000), Veterinary medicine, pp.1684-1688, W.B. Saunders Co. Ltd., London.
- Rahmani.A., Jinap, S., and Soleimany, F. (2009). Qualitative and Quantitative Analysis of Mycotoxins: Comprehensive Reviews in *Food Science and Food Safety*. <u>Volume 8, Issue 3, pages 202–251</u>, July 2009.
- Raju M.V.L, Sundar G.S, Sadagopan V.R, Elangovan A.V, Reddy M.R, Rao S.V.R. (2004) Replacement of Maize with Jowar, Bajra or Ragi in Broiler Chicken Diets. *Animal Nutrition and Feed Technology*. 2004; 4:53–61
- Rentokil FSA (2013): Food Hygiene, A Guide for Businesses. London, Food Standards Agency, 2013(<u>https://www.rentokil.com/food-safety/regulations-standards/</u>, 2018)
- Richard J.L., (2007). Some Major Mycotoxins and Their Mycotoxicoses An Overview: International Journal of Food Microbiology (119) 3-10
- Rocha,O., Ansari, K. & Doohan, F. M.(2005) Effects of Trichothecene Mycotoxins on Eukaryotic Cells: A Review, Food Additives And Contaminants, 22:4, 369-378, DOI:10.1080/02652030500058403
- Royes, J.B. & Yanong, R.P. (2002): Molds in Fish Feeds and Aflatoxicosis. Copyright by the University of Florida, *Institute of Agric. Sci.* (UF/ IFAS)
- Sanka, Y D and Mbaga, S H (2014): Evaluation of Tanzanian local chicken reared under intensive and semi-intensive systems: I. Growth performance and carcass characteristics *Livestock Research for Rural Development* 26 (7) 2014

- Santacroce, M.P., M.C. Conversano, E. Casalino, O. Lai, C. Zizzadoro, G. Centoducati and G. Crescenzo, (2008). Aflatoxins in aquatic species: metabolism, toxicity and perspectives. *Review Fish Biol. Fish. 18, 99–130*
- Saqer Mohammad Herzallah (2013) Aflatoxin B1 Residues in Eggs and Flesh of Laying Hens Fed Aflatoxin B1 Contaminated Diet; *American Journal of Agricultural and Biological Sciences* 8 (2): 156-161, 2013
- Savard M.E., (2008). Mycotoxins An Introduction, Stewart Postharvest Review 2008 6:1 (http://www.mycotoxins.info/en/mycotoxins/common-mycotoxins/aflatoxins/)
- Scott, P.M., 2011. Recent research on fumonisins: A review. Food Addit. Contam. doi:

10.1080/19440049.2010.546000.

- Shazad, Z. I., Nisar, S., Rafique, M., and Jinap, S. (2014): Natural Incidence of Aflatoxins, Ochratoxin A, and Zearalenone in Chicken Meat and Eggs (https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0956713514001169)
- Smith, B.P. (2002). Large Animal Internal Medicine, 3rd Edition pp.1627-1637. Mosby, Inc. USA. Smith, J. E., and M. O. Moss., (1985): Mycotoxins; Formation, Analyses and Significance, John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, United Kingdom.
- Strosnider H, Aziz-Baumgartner E, Banziger M, Bhat RV, Breiman R, Brune Marie-Noel, et al.(2006); Work group Report: Public Health strategies for reducing aflatoxin exposure in Developing countries. Environmental Health Perspectice. 2006;114:1898–1903. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- Tarwireyi, L. and Fanadzo, M. (2013): Production of Indigenous Chickens for Household Food Security in Rural Kwazulu-Natal, South Africa: A Situation Analysis; African Journal of Agricultural Research, Vol. 8(46), pp. 5832-5840, 27 November, 2013. DOI: 10.5897/AJAR11.1786 (http://www.academicjournals.org/AJAR, 2016)

- Tumbleson, M. E., Singh, V., Rausch, K. D., Johnston, D. B., Kendra, D. F., Meerdink, G. L., and Haschek, W. M . (2006): "Mycotoxin Control during Grain Processing." ASABE Paper No. 066040. St. Joseph, MI: ASABE.
- Tulayakul P. Sakuda S. Dong K. S. and Kumagai S. (2005): Comparative Activities of Glutathione-S-Transferase and Dialdehyde Reductase Toward Aflatoxin B₁ In Livers of Experimental and Farm Animals. *Toxicon* 46: 204–209
- Turner, P.C.; Collinson, A.C.; Cheung, Y.B.; Gong, Y.Y.; Hall, A.J.; Prentice, A.M.; Wild, C.P. (2007): Aflatoxin Exposure in Utero Causes Growth Faltering in Gambian Infants: *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2007, 36, 1119–1125. [Google Scholar] [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Verma, J., Johri, T. S., Swain, B. K. & Ameena, S. (2004): "Effect of Graded Levels of Aflatoxin, Ochratoxin and Their Combinations on the Performance and Immune Response of Broilers;" *British Poultry Science*, 45, 512-518.
- Vetchick. (2010): Mycotoxins and its Effects on Chicken (<u>www.knowmycotoxins.com</u>, 2016)
- Vondracek, M., Xi, Z., Larsson, P., Baker, V., Mace, K., Pfeifer, A., Tjalve, H., Donato, M.T., Gomez-Lechon, J. and Grafstrom, R.C. (2001) Cytochrome P450 Expression and Related Metabolism in Human Buccal Mucosa. *Carcinogenesis*, 22, 481-488. (<u>http://carcin.oxfordjournals.org/content/22/3/481.full.pdf</u>, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/carcin/22.3.481, 2017</u>)
- Wheeler, T., and Von Braun, J., (2013): Climate Change Impacts on Global Food Security. *Science 341: 508-513*.
- Whitlow, L W. and Hagler, W.M (2006) The Top Ten Most Frequently-asked About Mycotoxins. Cattle and Dairy Food Products.(<u>http://en.engormix.com/MA-mycotoxins/articles/the-top-ten-most-t198/p0.htm</u>, 2017

- Wild, C.P.; Gong, Y.Y. (2010) Mycotoxins and Human Disease: A Largely Ignored Global Health Issue. *Carcinogenesis 2010*, 31, 71–82. [Google Scholar] [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wild, C.P. and Turner, P.C. (2002): The Toxicology of Aflatoxins as a Basis for Public Health Decisions. *Mutagenesis*, 17, 471-481. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/17.6.471</u>, 2017)
- Wu, F., Narrod, C., Tiongco, M., Liu, Y (2011): The Health Economics of Aflatoxin: Global Burden of Disease; Working Paper No.4; International Food Policy Research Institute: Washington, DC, USA, 2011; pp. 1–17. [Google Scholar]
- Yunus, A. W., Razzazi-F. E. & Bohm, J. (2011). "Aflatoxin B1 in Affecting Broiler's Performance, Immunity, and Gastrointestinal Tract: A Review of History and Contemporary Issues." Toxins, 3, 566-590.
- Zaki, M. M., El Midany, S. A., Shaheen H. M., and Rizzi L (2012): Mycotoxins in Animals: Occurrence, Effects, Prevention and Management. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health Sciences Vol. 4(1), pp.13-28, 5 January,* 2012 (http://www.academicjournals.org/JTEHS DOI: DOI: 10.5897/JTEHS11.072, 2016)
- Zhang, W.W., Ye, Z.M., Jin, Y., Wang, S.Y., Zhang, L.S and Pei, X.F. (2013): Management of Mycotoxin Contamination in Food and Feed in China.
- Zhang H., Wang, S., Fang, G. (2011): Applications and Recent Developments of Multi-Analyte Simultaneous Analysis by Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assays; *Journal of Immunological Methods*. 2011;368:1–23. [PubMed]

APPENDICES

Ar	opendix I:	Data	informa	tion from	the study	v area (Source:	Author.	. 2016)	,
						,	(~~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~		,,	

County		Busia	Kakamega	Siaya	Total
Sub-counties			3	3	9
Wards			6	6	18
Locations			12	12	36
Farmer groups			12	12	36
Feed samples			20	20	60
Egg samples			20	20	60
Chicken Sacrificed	Adult (>36 weeks old)	10	10	10	60
	Young (12-16 weeks old)	10	10	10	
Tissues samples obtained (4 samples from each chicken; liver, kidney, breast & thigh muscles)			80	80	240



Appendix II: Removing a thigh muscle sample from chicken for mycotoxin test in the lab. This muscle is an active muscle and popular on the table (Source: Author, 2016).



Appendix III: Egg samples in the lab ready for analysis by ELISA method (Source: Author, 2016)



Appendix IV: Microwells with filtrate, substrate and antibody ready to be inserted into the analyzer for AFT analysis (Source: Author, 2016)



Appendix V: Information is collected during baseline survey from individual farmers in three selected Counties of Western Kenya namely: Busia, Kakamega and Siaya Counties (Source: Author, 2016).

Appendix VI: Sample of questionnaire used to collect information during baseline survey (Source: Author, 2016)

BASELINE SURVEY QUESTIONNAIRE ON MYCOTOXINS IN FEEDS AND EVALUATION OF THEIR EFFECTS ON INDIGENOUS CHICKEN PRODUCTION

FARMER'S BIO-DATA

Code [] Date...../2016

Enumerator Name	Education level
Name of farmer	Survey refer
Farmer's Contact	County
Age	Sub-county
Family size	Division
Gender	Location
Farmer's group	GPS ref: Latitude
	Altitude

<u>SECTION A</u> FEEDS, FEED HANDLING AND STORAGE METHODS/FACILITIES

1. Feed types, source and storage.

Type of feed	Source	Storage method	Storage condition	Storage length
Maize				
Sorghum				
Cassava				
Millet				
Peanuts				
Kitchen remains				
Commercial				
Others (list)				
•••••				
	1			

 What is the condition of the grain feeds given to your chicken? a) Clean b) Broken c) Rotten d) Other, Specify.....

 3. Where do you store your chicken feeds? a) In the house b) Modern store c) Traditional granary d) Others (specify)
4. Do you dry the grains, how?
5. Any sorting prior to storage; (Yes) or (No)
If yes, how is sorting done: Manually (Hand picking) Other, specify
6. How do you preserve feeds?
7. How do you prepare your land before planting?
8. Do you practice mixed farming? (Yes) or (No)
If yes, what crops? a) b) c)
9. How do you harvest your crops? a) Hand b) machinery c) other, specify
 At what stage do you harvest these crops? a) Dry b) partially dry c) green d) other, specify
11. Did you notice any diseases in your farm prior to harvesting? (Yes) or (No)
If yes, what were the symptoms?

•

.....

12. What are the major challenges you encounter in indigenous chicken feeds?

••••••

SECTION B

INDIGENOUS CHICKEN PRODUCTION

1. What breeds of chicken are kept on your farm and how many?

Indigenous	Improved	Crosses	Others specify
No. =	No. =	No. =	No. =

2. a) How long have you been involved in keeping indigenous chicken?

Less than 5 years	5-10 years	11-15 years	Over 15 years

b) Why do you prefer indigenous chicken to others? a) Hardiness b) resistant to diseases c) delicious e) easy to manage f) profitability g) cultural purposes h) other,

specify.....

.....

c) Kindly state the age groups and numbers of the following categories of chicken that you have.

Chicken type	Age group	Numbers
Chicks		
Growers		
Layers		

Others, specify	

3. Feeding system and production index i. Feeding System

Production system; Free	
Range (FR), Deep Litter	
(DL)	
Other, specify	
Amount of feed given per	
chicken per day	
Supplementation Yes/No	
Type of feed supplements	
Amount of feed	
supplements given per	
chicken per day	

ii. Indigenous Chicken Production Index

No. of Layers	Eggs	per	Difference
Eggs provided for	No. o	f	Difference
hatching per hen	chicks	5	
	hatche	ed	
Eggs sold per			
day/week/month			
No of chickens sold			
per day/week/month			
Age at first laying			
Total no. of eggs during	a laying period		
Time from hatching to la	ying		
(open period)			
Any abnormalities of the	egg observed		
(shell, yolk, other)			
Age of chicken disposed	off for meat		
Weight of chicken dispos	sed off for meat		
Other reasons for disposa	al		

4 Diseases and Conditions

Common diseases/conditions at the	Common clinical signs observed
-----------------------------------	--------------------------------
farm/in the area i.e. from vet records	
--	--

- i) Most recent outbreak
 - a. When
 - b. Name of Disease

ii) Mode of treatment/control of diseases

- a. Drugs _____ Ethno-veterinary
- b. Vaccinations
- c. De-flocking
- d. Nothing done/not aware
- iii) Deaths and Losses

Disease outbreaks	No. of Birds before the outbreak	Deaths	Difference
Disease outbreaks	No. of eggs before outbreak	Eggs produced during disease	Difference

i)		5 What are the major challenges you encounter in indigenous chicken production? Feeding
····		č
	ii)	Egg
		production
		•
	iii)	Chicken
		production
	iv)	Diseases/Conditions
	v)	Others,
		specify

SECTION C

MYCOTOXIN AWARENESS

1. Do you know the food/feeds can be unsafe? (Yes) (No)		
2. Have you heard of mycotoxins (aflatoxins) contamination? (Yes) (No)		
Where did you hear of it?		
Do you know what it is and the diseases or conditions it causes?		

What practices are you putting in place to reduce/ eliminate mycotoxins contamination of your food/chicken feeds?

.....

.....

•••••

ANY OTHER OBSERVATIONS

APPENDIX VII: SIMILARITY REPORT



11/14/2019, 10:22 AM